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DEDICATION

Orp WEestLAND is dedicated to the memory
of my Father and Mother, Edward Iveagh
and Ellen Lord, and to my Aunt Francis Trim
—who lives among us yet. Pioneers of the
West Coast of the South Island of New Zealand,
they saw Old Westland at the zenith of its
golden glory—when in the years of its first
decade it yielded over 3,000,000 ounces of gold
—adding (when most needed) £12,000,000 to
the wealth of the then infant Colony.

My people, in common with their fellow
Pioneers, suffered many hardships and priva-
tions, of which they often told me, and in
so doing inspired the writing of this work,
wherein it has been my constant endeavour,
to place upon permanent record, at least some
of the wonderful achievements of the sterling
men and women who pioneered Old Westland.

Greymouth,
Christmas, 1939.
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INTRODUCTION

WEsTLAND is a land of contrasts. Wild rocky
mountains lie reflected in placid lakes nestled
in dense forest. The forests themselves, profuse
in growth suggestive of tropical jungle, reach
up and give welcome embrace to cncroachmg
glaciers. As with its natural features so with its
people. To-day they are a quiet industrious com-
munity—only yesterday they were a turbulent
race of milling, struggling adventurers risking
everything, even life itself, in the mad rushes of
its goldfields. As with its features and its people
so with the regard of those who consider it.
To those who do not know it and take it upon
hearsay it is a desolate district of perpetual rain.
To those who have seen it occasionally in its
brighter moods it is an area of attractive bush
backed by rugged mountains and with some
spectacular glaciers which it shows for profit
to spendthrift tourists. But to those who are of it
and who love it Westland is a country of
extraordinary beauty. These know its glorious
wooded valleys, its forest-fringed lakes, its
sweeping beaches, noble rivers and majestic
mountains. These know that despite its rains
it has more than its share of sunshine
and sparkling, brilliant days. These know the
beauties of its dawnings and its sunsets.
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To one minded to write of Westland, especi-
ally to one nurtured among its beauties and
reared in its atmosphere of wild romance, a
difficult choice of subject presents itself. The
author of this history has escaped that dilemma.
As part of the scheme to mark the centenary of
New Zealand the people of Westland, like other
communities throughout the country, have
decided to have written the history of their
district. To Mr. Lord, a native and therefore
a lover of Westland, was entrusted the task.
Feeling, perhaps, that he was too near contem-
porary events he has limited his work to Old
Westland.

He is obviously a diligent searcher of old
records and has presented his collection in
convenient and orderly arrangement. Thus we
find in historical sequence the traditional Maori
accounts of the aboriginal discovery and settle-
ment of this West Coast of the South Island;
then the first European approaches to these
shores by Tasman and later and more intimately
by Cook. Following the discovery by the latter
of the excellent harbours of the West Coast
Sounds and the presence there of seals in large
numbers came the sealers who, with the whalers
in other parts, were the first traders to New
Zealand. Then our author tells the thrilling and
at times the tragic story of those brave men who
explored this difficult and unknown locality.
And then by way of climax he tells us with
much graphic detail of the spacious and adven-
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turous period when, gold having been dis-
covered, many thousands of men came from
other parts of New Zealand, from Australia,
from America, from different parts of Europe,
and even from China to dig for the precious
metal. That was indeed a thrilling episode in
the history of the district and it leaves a roman-
tic memory throughout the West Coast peopled
now for the most part by the children and grand-
children of those hardy gold-seeking pioneers.
Most of us even of this present generation have
vivid recollections of the aftermath of the gold
rushes of the sixties, of decaying mining hamlets
now entirely disappeared but which so recently
had been the centre of activities of thousands
of miners. With a touch of the dramatic
Mr. Lord carries his history of Old Westland
only to this period and leaves to our imagination
or to our memories the decline as rapid as had
been the rushing torrent of incoming gold
seckers. Thus is presented a complete and satis-
fying picture of Old Westland —the task to
which the author addressed himself.

This book introduces us to many interesting
persons who took part in these stirring events.
Of this period much has been written in a
scattered and desultory way by different writers.
It is not too much to hope that we may still
have another book upon Old Westland wherein
will be collected more intimate and detailed
stories of these explorers, administrators and
miners. Nor of these alone. Among those who
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remained and became its local governors, its
pioneer cattle men, its coach drivers, among
all those who helped to establish the West Coast,
including the great Seddon himself, were men,
big and adventurous, whose personalities and
the incidents of whose lives are as worthy and
as necessary of permanent recording as those
described by Mr. Lord.

To those of us who claim Westland as our
own land whether by birth or by adoption it
is a matter of no little satisfaction to have this
record of its romantic origin. The West Coast
did certainly decline in the number of its people
after the first mad rush of the miners had
spent itself. Yet was there no decline in the
character of its people. The miners were a vigor-
ous and manly breed of men. Their code was
simple—courage, generosity and honesty were
the cardinal virtues. Bad men as well as good
poured in with the human torrent, but the
vicious were unsuited to the conditions and
were the first to depart. So it came about that
as the tide of population receded Westland was
left with as fine a stock as the most discrimin-
ating colonisers could wish. The district gradu-
ally added to its attenuated mining the natural
industries of timber milling and farming. The
adventurous gold miners and their no less
adventurous wives set about making permanent
homes for themselves and their children. Dense
forests were invaded and clearings became
farms. As time went on, with timber getting
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in some localities, coal mining in others, and
scattered farms everywhere, the countryside
acquired an atmosphere of permanent settle-
ment. The mushroom cities with their numerous
saloons and stores settled down into homely
townships. Thus was Old Westland of which
Mr. Lord has written changed into the West-
land as we know it to-day. Nor has the quicken-
ing touch of gold quite forsaken it. Gone are
the individual diggings, but huge dredges and
other modern methods are employed in taking
large quantities of gold from areas too slightly
endowed for the cruder methods of the old days.
With this change in the outward condition
of the West Coast it is inevitable that there
should be a gradual change in its people. Those
of us who were privileged to know the vanguard
of that brave army of miners cherish memories
of their simple virtues. Above all were they
brave in adversity—friendly and hospitable—
generous in deed and thought, and in all places
and at all times honest and trustworthy. These
were the qualities they left as a heritage, and
despite the gradual changes which have over-
taken the outward condition of the West
Coasters and despite—indeed because of—its
long period of isolation, these are the qualities
still to be found by those who return and move
about with sympathy and understanding.

E. H. NorRTHCROFT.
Christchurch,
November, 1939.
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OLD WESTLAND

CHAPTER |

Maori Mythology — The Coming of Ngahue —
Pounamu (Greenstone )—First Human Occu-
pation—Maori Occupation.

Lb WEsTLAND’s history begins, according to

Maori mythology, in the dawn days of the
world when the Chief Ngahue landed there
and discovered deposits of pounamu (green-
stone) in the waters of its rivers. Ngahue,
a great and daring navigator, like unto our
own Captain Cook, was (so the legend
runs) driven from the cradle lands of his
people—from Hawaiki—by a woman (Hine-
tu-a-hoanga) who invoked the aid of a great
green sea-monster—Poutini—to capture him.
He, however, boldly put out to sea in his fast
sailing canoe, and though hotly pursued, held
ever onward until on the far horizon he saw a
long white cloud which proved to be land—
thus did he “find in the sea,” these islands of
Aotea-roa. As he drew still nearer he saw a
stupendous mountain beckoning to him, and
this he made out to be Aorangi, the mighty
monarch of the Southern Alps. Aorangi com-

A
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©.75" manded il to proceed north, and “with the

shining orb of the sun to guide him by day,
and the silvery moon to pilot him by night,”
he at length arrived off the mouth of the
Arahura River on the West Coast of the South
Island, some four miles north of where Hoki-
tika now stands. At this moment the sun hid
its face, and lo, all was dark, save that from the
icefields of Tara-o-Tama, at the source of the
Arahura River, there gleamed a bright
radiance, and by this omen Ngahue knew that
he was to land and proceed thereto.

Poutini, still in hot pursuit, followed him up
the river, until a deep pool at the foot of a
fearful rapid was reached. Here it injured
itself and sank to the bottom, being, by the
peculiar qualities of the water, transformed
into a greenstone canoe, and there it may be
seen to this very day, if you find the right
place and dive to the bottom of the pool. As
this is very dark and very deep, the canoe can
only be seen when the sun shines brightly at
high noon, through a cleft in the cliffs. . . . .

His enemy having been disposed of, Ngahue,
greatly attracted by the beauty and hardness
of the greenstone lying about the pool, selected
a block which his warriors conveyed back to
his canoe at the mouth of the river. On his
arrival there the sky to the south and west
became as dark as night—while to the north
all was bright and shining. By this he knew
it was safe to return to his home land, so he



The Coming of Ngahue 3

sailed north, and after visiting Tauranga, went
direct to Hawaiki, taking with him the block
of greenstone.

On his arrival he found his people were at
war, but after he had reported that he had
found in the sea a land where there were moa
and pounamu in great abundance, many of
them, tired of strife, decided to migrate
thereto. So from the block of greenstone,
which was known as “the fish of Ngahue,”
two sharp axes were made. These were called
Tutauru and Hau-hau-te-rangi, and with them
seven huge totara trees were felled and hewn
into canoes, which were named Arawa, Tainui,
Matatua, Takitumu, Kura-hau-po, Toko-maru,
and Matuwhaorua, and they comprised the
first fleet of canoes which reached these shores,
the cause of whose arrival, and of the arrival
of the canoes which came afterwards, bcmg the
fact that Ngahue discovered greenstone in Old
Westland.

It is worthy of note that Maori mythology,
as propounded by the various tribes, does not
agree in all respects, but reference to Sir George
Grey’s interesting work, entitled “Polynesian
Mythology, and Ancient Traditional History
of the New Zealanders,” will show that the
principal points in the foregoing legend, and
the traditional account of the discovery of
Aotea-roa agree. Further, that the statement
that the Maori migration to New Zealand was
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due to the discovery of greenstone by Ngahue
in Westland is common to both.

H. D. Skinner, Otago University Museum,
in a paper entitled “New Zealand Green-
stone,” read before the Otago Institute,
October, 1932, and later reprinted from “The
Transactions of the Royal Society of New
Zealand,” Vol. 65, 1935, under the heading
of Maori Myths Relating to the Origin
of Greenstone, makes the following interesting
observations: “The myth relating to Ngahue
and his connection with greenstone has been
collected from various Maori tribes, and each
account has variations of its own. The follow-
ing appear to be the most important points:
Hine-tu-a-hoanga (Lady of the Grindstone,
personification of the grindstone) was antag-
onistic to Poutini (personification of green-
stone) ; Poutini belonged to Ngahue, and lived
in Hawaiki; Ngahue fled overseas with his
“fish,” as the Maoris described greenstone. One
version states that he rode his fish. They reached
Tuhua Island in the Bay of Plenty, an island
which yields the best quantities of obsidian and
has given its name to that material. Thence
they were driven by the Lady of the Grind-
stone. Quarrels between Poutini, on the one
hand, and Waiapu (a stone used in making
adzes), and Mataa (flint) are recorded, and
finally Ngahue fled to the West Coast of the
South Island and hid Poutini in the bed of the
Arahura. Ngahue tore off the side of his fish
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and took it back to Hawaiki, where it was
made into pendants and adzes. The latter were
used in hewing out the Arawa canoe. By a
number of writers Ngahue has been regarded
as an historical character, and New Zealand
school children are taught to regard him as
one of the discoverers of New Zealand.”

The same writer further observes: “Another
myth of the greenstone centres round Tama-
ahua, whose wives were abducted by Poutini
(greenstone). In his pursuit of them Tama
was guided by a magic dart which led him
to the Arahura River. Here he found his wives
Hina-ahuka (syn. kahurangi), Hina-aotea,
and Hina-kawakawa. These are all. names
of varieties of greenstone. S. Percy Smith, in
‘History and Traditions of the Taranaki Coast,’
was puzzled as to the interpretation of Tama-
ahua’s adventures in Westland, but he con-
cludes a discussion of the point, page 23, as
follows: ‘Whatever we may think of the
peculiar story of Tama-ahua, and his search
for the precious stone, the journey of Tumuaki,
on the same errand, is historic, as will be seen.’
Tumuaki went from Taranaki to the Green-
stone Country and found a boulder of pou-
namu. In breaking it up he struck his finger
with the hammer. He thoughtlessly put his
finger in his mouth, for which impious act he
was turned into stone. His wife, Hine-tu-a-
hoanga (Lady of the Grindstone, a name
which we have already seen in a quite different
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setting), went in search of him, but was
drowned. Mr. Smith dated these events about
1550.”

There are innumerable legends centred
round the discovery of greenstone, the first
cited here being the one most favoured by the
Old West Coast natives. This event is of course
of paramount importance in Maori history, and
sufficient has been written to clearly show that
Westland was ever the scene of activity, and
that the stage was always set at the Arahura
River.

From the foregoing it would appear that
the Maoris were the first inhabitants. This is
not so, for centuries before the coming of the
Maori, let alone of the Pakeha, there was a
human occupation of Westland of much
greater antiquity. What manner of men were
these, who, in a desperate endeavour to keep
body and soul together on the meagre natural
production of that wild land, hunted not for
sport, but for food, the mighty moa, that
gigantic wingless bird unique to New Zealand,
and who, when successful, feasted to their
hearts’ content on the flesh thereof? Their
struggle to subsist was heroic. True, native
feathered game there was in great abundance,
while the rivers teemed with fish of every
description, and in season inanga (whitebait)
ascended the streams in never-ending shoals.
On certain beaches, too, there were seals in
untold numbers, and a plenitude of shell-fish.
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Two edible ferns were also found in certain
localities, the mamakau and katote, the former
growing only in soil of good quality, and not
in the black birch forests. The natives con-
sidered the root of this, when cooked in a
Maori oven, to be very good eating; it would
sustain life well, particularly if an eel were
added. The katote, on the other hand, which
is found in the black birch country, is very
bitter and seldom eaten except in the last
extremity. There was little else in the way of
food to be obtained, with the exception of a
few berries in the autumn, and the heart of the
nikau palm which is very tender and very
satisfying, but only to be found close to the
coast line.

But even these scanty necessities of life were
not always available, many being seasonable,
providing a feast or a famine. Then terrific
storms would sweep the land, and the hunting
and snaring of birds would be an impossibility,
while heavy seas pounding the shores, and
flooded rivers, would prevent the killing of
seals and fishing. Fern root alone, even if pro-
curable, would hardly keep body and soul
together, and when these conditions prevailed
—and they frequently must have—starvation
stark and terrible faced these pre-historic
people, who strove so heroically to subsist.

Yet, that there was such an occupation is
certain. In this respect, A. J. Harrop, M.A.,, in
“The Romance of Westland,” states: “Though
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the Maori occupation of Westland has been
treated so far as though it were the first, there
can be no doubt that the human occupation of
New Zealand is of much greater antiquity than
this. Discoveries have been made of stone
implements far below the present level of the
soil. The most careful and scientific descrip-
tion of such a discovery is given by Sir Julius
von Haast. A partly finished chert adze and
its sandstone sharpener were found by a party
of gold miners at Bruce Bay, South Westland,
a few days before he arrived on the spot in
1868. The implements were lying on a floor
of pebble-studded clay, and more than fourteen
feet of strata of humus, sand and shingle had
to be cut through before they were reached.
Totara trees four feet in diameter had to be
felled before the surface could be broken; there
were also huge trunks that had been prostrate
for generations, and moss grown moulds of
others that had decayed centuries before. The
place was five hundred feet above high water
mark, with the usual three belts of driftwood
sand without vegetation, rush-and-manuka-
covered sand, and low scrub. It had clearly
passed through these three stages, and its foot
of humus must have taken many generations
if not centuries of herbage to form before the
forest giants could root themselves in it. The
various accumulations and the ancient growth
of the forest belt take us back undoubtedly
several thousand years, and even then we have
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Maori Occupation 9

a neolithic race that polished its weapons and
had spread so far west and south to the long
uninhabited sounds.”

It is of great interest to note that apart from
the discovery of this chert adze and its sand-
stone sharpener, it has now been established
that greenstone was known to the moa-hunters,
the first inhabitants, and also to the Morioris,
who it would seem were the predecessors of
the Maoris. Of the former very little is known
—they have not survived as a separate race;
being inferior in fighting qualities to the latter
they were probably killed or absorbed by the
various tribes.

Coming now to the Maori occupation of
Westland, it has been noted that they were
not numerous in the South Island, which
they knew as Te Wai Pounamu (the waters,
or place, of greenstone), and Westland
was no eéxception to the rule. Greenstone
(pounamu), a variety of jade, known as
nephrite, was greatly prized, and as it is only
found in Westland, many raiding parties set
out in search of it, and much blood was shed
in the tribal wars which were fought for its
possession. Carrying, after long and tedious
treatment, a good cutting edge, chisels for
carving, adzes for canoe work, as well as orna-
ments and implements of war, were made
from it.

The Maori lived in the stone age, and had
no knowledge of iron or metals of any sort;
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therefore greenstone was the best known sub-
stitute, for, apart from its beauty, it was very
hard and durable. The pa at the mouth of the
Arahura River, “in the heart of the greenstone
country” (where Ngahue landed in the dawn
days of the world), was the principal store-
house of this coveted commodity, and in conse-
quence was attacked many times by raiders.
When these raids occurred or even when the
Maoris first came to Westland are moot points.
Authorities differ, but from what can be
learned of a people who knew not writing in
any shape or form, it would seem that about
the year 1300 the Ngatiwairangi tribe crossed
over from the North to the South Island,
settling down at West Wanganui, some miles
north of Karamea. Here they resided in peace
for about two hundred and fifty vyears,
spreading as far south as Milford Sound.
During this time they were practically a lost
tribe, though there must have been some con-
nection with the North Island, as greenstone
gradually made its appearance there. In their
“isolation they became wonderfully efficient at
grinding this hard and beautiful stone, and
were a happy and a contented people. But,
alas, history then repeated itself, for even as
a woman had been the cause of driving Ngahue
from the cradle lands of his people, which led
to his discovery of greenstone, so was a woman,
again through the same agency, the cause of
the downfall of the Ngatiwairangi tribe. It so
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happened that the powerful northern tribe
Ngai-Tahu, had completed the invasion of the
East Coast of the South Island as far south as
the Waitaki River, and were in occupation of
the conquered territory. One day when some
of the tribe were building a canoe, a strange
woman named Raureka appeared among them
who ridiculed the tools they were using,
showing them some greenstone ones which
were much superior. The Ngai-Tahu men
were greatly impressed with these and per-
suaded her to lead them to her country,
that they too might become possessed of
such splendid implements. This she did and
much trading took place between the two
tribes. Greenstone was exchanged for food-
stuffs, for mutton birds, kumara, and fish
of every description, and for some considerable
time all went well. The Ngai-Tahu made
many trips across the island, travelling by way
of all the alpine passes, which were well known
to the Maori hundreds of years before the
advent of the Pakeha. At length war broke
out between the two tribes and the Ngatiwai-
rangi were heavily defeated, the Ngai-Tahu,
after looting the Arahura Pa, returning to the
East Coast. A few years later the Ngai-Tahu
again raided Westland, but this time the resi-
dent tribe were prepared and ambushed them,
killing many and driving the rest off. To
avenge this the Ngai-Tahu got together a large
force which set out to conquer the Westland
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natives, whom they annihilated, embodying
their women and children into their own
people. Thus the natives who lived in West-
land for over two hundred years ceased to
exist as a separate tribe and were replaced
by the Ngai-Tahu, the descendants of whom
still reside at the Arahura.

The next event of outstanding interest
occurred when the Ngati-tama, Ati-Awa and
Ngati-rarua tribes, under the leadership of
Niho, made their historic raid on the green-
stone country (1828). Te Rauparaha in this year
had invaded the East Coast and a section of his
tribe set out for Westland by the coastal route.
They believed there was a great store of green-
stone at the Arahura and though they duly
reached their objective they failed to obtain the
pounamu. During this raid, Tuhuru (father of
Werita Tainui) was captured. He, however,
was ransomed for a very famous mere—kai-
kanohi. From the Arahura most of the raiders
returned to the Mawhera Pa, Greymouth.
Eight years later, Te Puoho led another war
party from Golden Bay and proceeded still
further south, destroying as they went. They,
however, met their Waterloo at the Mataura
River, where the Maoris of those parts, armed
by the early sealers with the dreaded musket
—as also were the raiders—killed two of them
and made prisoner all the rest with the excep-
tion of one man, who made his way back
to Golden Bay.



CHAPTRR II

Tarapuhi — Werita Tainui — The Mawhera Pa —
Abel Janszoon Tasman, 1642—Captain [ames
Cook, 1770.

As HAs been shown the principal pas in Old

Westland were those at the Arahura and
Mawhera (Grey) Rivers. Of the latter, Sir
Arthur Dudley Dobson, a pioneer surveyor of
Westland, in “Reminiscences,” says: “There
had been a good sized pa on the north side
of the river where we were camped, but it had
been destroyed and burnt by a war party from
Kaikoura many years ago, and of the inhabi-
tants many were killed. The greater number
had escaped, however, but the pa had never
since been occupied. So far as I could learn
this was the last war party that had attacked
the Mawhera Pa. The Kaikoura men destroyed
all the canoes they could find, hoping to pre-
vent the Coast men from following them. They
took all the greenstone they could lay their
hands on, retreated up the Grey River, and
camped on the high ground near the junction
of the Ahaura with the Mawhera, where I sub-
sequently laid out the township of Ahaura.
Thinking the Coast men would not be able to
follow them quickly without canoes, they were
unprepared and not expecting any attack.
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They had encamped on the edge of a high cliff,
with a deep gully running into the land on the
east side, and thought themselves in a safe
position, as they could be attacked only on two
sides. In this, however, they were mistaken,
for the Coast men soon avenged themselves.
Collecting a strong force from the Maoris
living south of the Grey, they quickly manned
the canoes, which had been hidden away in
the forest, went up the river at night, and at
dawn attacked the sleeping Kaikoura warriors.
They were soon over-powered, some being
killed, while others jumped off the cliff and
were drowned, leaving the Coast men once
more in possession of the greenstone and the
canoes. The captives provided the customary
feast, which lasted some days; then the victors
returned to the Coast. The pa on the north
side of the river was never rebuilt, a new one
on the south side being in use when I arrived
on the scene. The fight must have taken place
about 1790 to 1800, as the narrator, who was a
very old man, said it happened when he was
quite a small boy, his mother having carried
him away into the bush, and thus they escaped.
The Coast natives apparently kept a few
prisoners for a time, as the last was said to have
been killed and eaten on the island in Lake
Brunner.”

Of Tarapuhi, chief of the Mawhera Pa, the
same author writes: “Tarapuhi was the most
important chief on the West Coast in the
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sixties. He was far too important and of too
high lineage to do any manual work. He
might steer a canoe, but not carry a swag, and
he always had two or three young men in
attendance on him. He had a great reputation
as an athlete and warrior, was over six feet
in height, and a very well made muscular man
of handsome countenance. I had no means of
judging what his age was, but I should think
that in 1864 he was probably about 70 years
old, though very active and strong. His old
wife, Mame, was always about with him, filling
his pipe and brushing off the sandflies and
mosquitoes, and always by his side in the
whare. He died at Greymouth in April, 1864,
while I was in Christchurch. He left Mame
several important messages, which she was
to give to me as soon as I returned. I found
her in great grief at the loss of her husband.
She said life was not worth living without
Tarapuhi—he was the finest man in the world,
and that she was only waiting for my return
to give me his dying instructions. Then she
would depart also. She then retired to the little
whare which had been built for her to die in,
refused all food, rolled herself up in her mats
and blankets, and in a few days passed on.”

W. H. S. Hindmarsh, “Waratah,” who
reached Old Westland in 1866, in “Tales of the
Golden West,” devotes a chapter to Werita
Tainui, brother of Tarapuhi, which contains
much of great interest, and Tainui’s own story
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of the days before the coming of the Pakeha.
This was translated from the Maori by John
Greenwood, Native Agent at Greymouth, an
accomplished Maori scholar, who had accom-
panied Bishop Selwyn on many of his historical
journeys, thus gaining a wonderful knowledge
of the language and customs of the Maori
people. “Waratah” states: “Tainui was a
Maori chief of the highest aristocratic caste, a
good natured fellow of medium height and
weight, with a bright face, showing the high
caste Maori. His cheeks and chin were scored
with the orthodox curve markings. He had an
abundance of hair on his head, and his half-
closed eyes had a merry twinkle in them. Any-
one looking at him calmly could not have
associated him with any of the atrocities or
orgies of a Maori warrior of the ‘bad old days.’
. ... His was a noble and warlike ancestry
dating back into the dark ages, for the name
Tainui is associated with the first canoes to
reach New Zealand.”

Here follows Tainui’s own story: “In old
times long ago, the West Coast was thickly
peopled from the Buller to Okarito by the
powerful tribe of Ngatiwairangi. Now it came
to pass that being inspired with a thirst for
glory, certain war parties crossed the moun-
tains and made descents on the settlements of
the Ngai-Tahu, who dwelt about Port Cooper
(Lyttelton) and the Canterbury Plains. When
victorious they enjoyed the fruits of conquest



Werita Tainui 17

after preparing the same in Maori ovens. The
Ngai-Tahu were not slow in returning the
compliment, and thus an interchange of visits
across the mountains was kept at the cost of
much consumption of warriors; and many
fights and great devastation ensued. In the
long run the Port Cooper natives had the best
of it, and the Ngatiwairangi were abolished,
the land being occupied by five divisions of the
Ngai-Tahu tribe. The original possessors of
the Grey district were all wiped out by a war
party under the leadership of my father,
Tuhuru. I was only a little boy then. There
was a great pa at the Ahaura. We attacked it
and wasn’t there a slaughter! Those who got
away fled to that high mountain you sce at
the back, but bless you, they were soon hunted
down and knocked on the head! My father
was something like a man. If we had been
able to draw likenesses as you are, there would
have been something for the Pakeha to look
at. He was square built and at least eight feet
high. Talk of Mr. Revell*, pooh! He’s a baby
to him. However, he died, and his bones are
in that cave along by my house (the Mawhera
Pa). My elder brother, Tarapuhi, is buried
there also, and I live in my corner under the
hill, keeping watch over those great men, my
ancestors, who lie buried in the cave close by.”

In answer to a question how the war parties
got across the mountains, Tainui said: “As for
tracks for the war parties, they did without

* William Horton Revell, known as “Big” Revell, the out-
standing personality of Old Westland's golden age.

B
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them; they simply followed up the Mawhera
or some other river to its source, and then
popped over the saddle, and followed a stream
flowing the other way.”

A good, if grim story is told of Tainui who,
as will be shown, was one of the chiefs who
signed the “Deed of Sale of Westland.” When
his title was being investigated, he was asked
how he acquired the land he claimed, to which
he replied that “his claim was uncontestable,”
as he had eaten the former owner. The main
thoroughfare running from Mawhera Quay to
the southern boundary of Native Reserve 32,
upon which the business portion of the town
of Greymouth is built, perpetuates the name of
Tainui. There is also a Werita Street and a
Tarapuhi Street within the borough. Thus did
John Rochfort when laying out Greymouth in
1865 honour the two last chiefs of the Mawhera
Pa. Werita Tainui died at Greymouth and was
buried with his ancestors under the hill. The
Maoris after his death removed to the Arahura.
Apart from the wars which were waged for
greenstone, there were many petty disputes
anent the right of taking native birds, kakapo,
kiwi and weka in the Arahura, Hokitika, Grey
and Buller districts. These disputes became
more acute in the opening years of the 19th
century, for at this time early sealing gangs
were slaughtering these amphibious animals,
which were to be found in their tccming
thousands on certain beaches.
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In consequence of this a
shortage of food was
brought about, and tribal
rights to have the sole
occupation of certain local-
ities for snaring purposes
were jealously guarded and
many minor clashes took
place which led to some
bloodshed, but as those Tasman
concerned were few in
number nothing very serious occurred. By 1838,
however, the influence of the early missionaries
was so great that from this date the natives,
quick to learn, turned to more peaceful and
profitable pursuits, and war was no more in
Old Westland.

So much for mythology and conjecture.
History tells us that Abel Janszoon Tasman,
the famous Dutch navigator, discovered New
Zealand, sighting the coast of Westland on
December 13th, 1642, and it is this Province,
therefore, that first stands sharply silhouetted
on the horizon of Dominion history. Tasman
quaintly described Westland as “a great land
uplifted high, not unlike the island of
Formosa with its piles of rugged mountains.”
Employed by the Dutch East India Com-
pany, who were seeking new lands wherein
to establish trading stations, Tasman at this
time was endeavouring to ascertain whether
New Holland, as Australia was then called,
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extended southward and formed a great
Antarctic continent. He sailed from Batavia, on
August 14th, 1642, in the Heemskercq, accom-
panied by the Zeechaen (the latter commanded
by Gerritt Jansan), small vessels of 60 and 100
tons respectively. On November 24th of the
same year he discovered and named Van
Diemen’s Land, which we now know as Tas-
mania. One week later, on December 1st, he
anchored in Fredrick Hendrik’s Bay (now
Prince of Wales Bay), and took possession for
Holland. Here he remained until December
9th, when he sailed east, and, as stated, picked
up the coast of Westland four days later. He
named the new country Staaten Land, as he
considered it probably extended across the
Pacific to what is now known as Staaten Island,
south of Tierra del Fuego. Staaten Land, how-
ever, was soon afterwards proved by another
explorer to be an island; thereupon the Dutch
authorities changed the name of this country
to New Zealand, though they did not reveal its
existence to the world for some considerable
time. Tasman sailed north along the West
Coast until he rounded what we now call Fare-
well Spit, and anchored in what he called
Murderers’ (now Golden) Bay. Here the
Maoris attacked a boat’s crew and killed four
of his men. He then sailed along the coast of
the North Island (naming Cape Maria Van
Diemen), until he rounded the North Cape,
and on Epiphany Eve, some islets coming



Captain Cook 21

under his observation, he with due regard to
the religious significance of the date of their
discovery, named them the Three Kings in
honour of the Wise Men from the East. This
was his last act before departing, for the
appearance of another band of Maoris so terri-
fied him that he finally sailed away from this
country without having set foot hereon, within
a month of having first sighted “a great land
uplifted high”—the shores of Old Westland.

Of the one hundred and twenty-cight years
immediately following Tasman’s visit, nothing
authentic is known of Westland’s history.
Then Captain James Cook, on the occasion of
his first voyage round the world in H.M.S.
Endeavour, sailed along its shores and, sighting
Aorangi, gave his own illustrious name to the
mighty monarch of the Southern Alps. Cook
was not impressed with Westland, which he
described as “an inhospitable shore, unworthy
of observation, except for its ridge of naked and
barren rocks covered with snow. As far as the
eye could reach the prospect was wild, craggy
and desolate.”

Cook’s voyage was brought about by the fact
that the Royal Society, in anticipation of the
transit of Venus in 1769, decided that it was
essential to despatch a properly equipped
vessel, in command of a competent officer, to
the South Seas for observation purposes, Cook
being selected to lead the expedition on account
of being an acknowledged authority in mathe-
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matics and astronomy. He was also instructed
to clear up the mystery pertaining to the
geography of the Pacific Ocean, especially in
the south, by proceeding in that direction as
far as latitude 40°. If he found no land he was
to sail westward until he reached New Zea-
land, which was to be thoroughly explored and
reported upon.

It was in the carrying out of these instruc-
tions, therefore, that on October 7th, 1769,
he sighted land in the vicinity of Poverty Bay,
anchoring therein two days later. Having com-
pleted his survey of the North Island and taken
possession of it in the name of the King, he
sailed southward to Ship Cove, Quccn Char-
lotte Sound, not realising he was in another
island. Here necessary repairs were carried out,
and he from a nearby hill saw the strait which
now bears his name, and realised for the first
time that New Zealand consisted of two
separate islands. After again taking possession
in the name of the King, he sailed down the
East Coast, being uncertain whether Banks
Peninsula might not be an island. Continuing
his voyage he rounded Stewart Island, but
failed to discover Foveaux Strait. Standing in
again to the southern portion of the West
Coast, he observed what he considered to be
a large well sheltered natural harbour, but did
not attempt to enter owing to the approach of
night and bad visibility. This potential
anchorage which he named Dusky Bay was
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to become, only twenty-three years later, world
famous as the centre of the sealing industry.
Proceeding north, he in due course reached
Queen Charlotte Sound again, prior to which
he sailed along the coast of, and commented,
as aforesaid, on the “inhospitable shores” of
Old Westland.



CHAPTER 111

Cook at Dusky Sound, 1773 — First Shipment of
Seal Skins, 1793 — Sealing in Westland 116
Years Ago— Description of Westland.

APTAIN Cook, during

his second voyage
round the world in the
Resolution, sailed into
Dusky Sound, on March
26th, 1773, and there estab-
lished health recruiting
quarters for his officers
and men. The obtaining Cook
of fresh meat was his first
consideration and as seals were to be seen in
great numbers one was immediately killed and
consumed. Having established himself Cook
next proceeded to make a survey (and a very
excellent survey, too) of Dusky. In this con-
nection, Robert McNab, M.A.,, LL.B,, one
time Member of the House of Representatives,
and Minister of Lands and Agriculture,
in “Murihiku,” that incomparable contri-
bution to literature pertaining to the southern
portion of the South Island of New Zealand,
states that the fact that Cook gave to the
world information that here was a safe
anchorage, where there was firstclass timber
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for spars, and myriads of seals, put the
southern portion of the West Coast of the
South Island definitely on the map, so much
so, that as early as 1793, the first sealing gang
to visit New Zealand landed there, obtaining
4,500 skins which were sent to the China
market; this, with the exception of a few spars
obtained by casual vessels visiting the North
Island, was the first shipment of any kind sent
overseas from this Dominion and to the
southern portion of the West Coast must go
the credit thereof.

From 1803 sealing became very general and
as showing the quantities then existent, com-
ments on Australia by Sir Joseph Banks
(whose name is perpetuated in Banks Penin-
sula), dated June 4th, 1806, were as follows:
“The island of Van Diemen, the south-west
coast of New Holland, and the southern part
of New Zealand produce seals of all kinds in
quantities at present almost innumerable.
Their stations on rocks and in bays have
remained unmolested since the creation. The
beach is encumbered with their quantities, and
those who visit their haunts have less trouble
in killing them than the servants of a
victualling office who kill hogs in a pen with
mallets.”

With such a harvest awaiting the taking,
many Australian and other overseas vessels
made Dusky Sound their headquarters, opera-
tions extending in all directions, and to well



26 Old Westland

within the southern boundary of Westland.
As showing this to be so, the Rev. Richard
Taylor, in his book, “New Zealand and its
Inhabitants,” says: “From the evidence of a
person who was formerly engaged in sealing
at Dusky Bay, as far back as the year 1823, it
appears that from 1826 to 1827 there was an
almost constant succession of earthquakes,
some of which were sufficiently violent to
throw men down. At times he and his party,
who then resided on a small island, were so
alarmed lest it should be submerged that they
put out to sea. There, however, they found
no safety, but such was the flux and reflux of
the ocean, that they were in the greatest danger
of being swamped, and were thankful to get
on shore again. The sealers were accustomed
to visit a small cove called the jail, which was
a most suitable place for anchorage, being well
sheltered with lofty cliffs on every side, and
having deep water in it close to the shore, so
that they could step out from the rocks to their
boats. It was situated about eighty miles to the
north of Dusky Bay. After the earthquakes the
locality was completely altered; the sea had so
entirely retired from the cove that it was dry
land. Beyond Cascade Point the whole coast
presented a most shattered appearance, so
much so that its former state could scarcely be
recognised; large masses of the mountains had
fallen, and in many places the trees might be
seen under the water.”
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It is of great importance to note that Cascade
Point is 30 miles north of Westland’s southern
boundary, and that the sealing grounds
extended much further in that direction, and
in particular that only men who had “worked”
that part of the coast for seals and were
familiar with it could describe it with such a
wealth of detail; and thus is established the
outstanding fact that at least 116 years ago
Westland contributed its quota of seals to the
many gangs engaged in the industry, which, as
noted by R. C. Reid in “Rambles on the Golden
Coast,” was still existent, though in a very
small way, in 1836. There are still seals in the
rookery below Carmichaels Plateau, South
Westland, but ruthless slaughter has almost
entirely exterminated them, and thus has been
destroyed a natural industry of the greatest
value and importance to the Dominion.

The year 1827 is notable for the fact that the
French navigator D’Urville sailed along the
shores of Westland in the warship Astrolabe,
logging its prominent physical features. Of
Rapahoe (Cobden Hill), Greymouth, com-
monly known as the Twelve Apostles, because
of its twelve small peaks, which are most
regular in formation, and run duc north and
south, he observed:

The summit remained saw cdgcd the teeth
of the saw leaning quite uniformly towards the
north in a most remarkable way.
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Apart from this and the activities of the
sealing gangs who found it increasingly hard
to obtain skins in payable quantities, and the
inter-tribal petty wars of the Maoris, nothing
further of importance occurred in Westland’s
history for almost twenty years, when in 1846
there came the pioneer explorers, and although
the early constitutional history of the Dominion
does not come within the ramifications of this
work, it is essential here to briefly show how
the Province under discussion came into being
and became known as Westland, and further,
to describe it as it was in the beginning.

In this respect it is necessary first to observe
that almost immediately after Cook returned
to England on the completion of his first voy-
age round the world, there was published in
London, on August 29th, 1771, a pamphlet
by Alexander Dalrymple, entitled “Scheme of
a Voyage to convey the Conveniences of Life,
Domestic Animals, Corn, Iron, etc., to New
Zeland [sic], with Dr. Benjamin Franklin’s
Sentiments on the Subject.” The idea
Dalrymple had in mind was to civilize the
Maoris by furnishing them with useful com-
modities, taking in exchange whatever goods
the natives could supply by way of trade.
Dalrymple being unsuccessful in raising money
to carry out his plan, the matter dropped, but
he was the first to suggest the idea of opening
up commerce with New Zealand, thus paving
the way for its colonization.
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The first attempt at colonization was made
in 1825 by a company formed in London, and
called the New Zealand Company. An expedi-
tion was sent out under Captain Herd, who
acquired tracts of land at Hokianga, at
Manakau, and on the borders of the Thames.
This Company was prevented by adverse cir-
cumstances from forming a settlement. In the
same year two other persons, namely, Baron
Charles de Thierry and Mr. William Stewart,
were trying to form colonization companies
in London. The former chose for his sphere
the North Island and the latter Stewart Island,
but neither scheme was successful.

In consequence of frequent visits of whaling
vessels to the Bay of Islands a settlement grew
up at Kororareka—now called Russell—and in
1833 James Busby was appointed British
Resident there.

Seven years later, in 1840, Captain William
Hobson, R.N,, reached the Bay of Islands and
issued a proclamation extending the British
Colony of New South Wales to include any
parts of New Zealand the sovereignty of which
he might acquire from the Maoris. Hobson
formally read his commissions at Kororareka
on January 30th, 1840, and on February 6th of
the same year the Treaty of Waitangi was
signed whereby all rights and powers of
sovereignty were ceded to Queen Victoria, all
territorial rights being secured to the Maoris.
On May 2Ist, 1840, Hobson proclaimed
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British sovereignty, in the case of the North
Island by virtue of the Treaty of Waitangi, and
in the case of the South Island and Stewart
Island by right of discovery. On the treaty
being signed in the South Island a formal
proclamation of British sovereignty of that
Island in accordance with the consent of the
Maoris was made at Cloudy Bay on June
17th, 1840, by Major Bunbury. New Zealand
remained a dependency of New South Wales
until May 3rd, 1841, when it was created
a separate Colony by Royal Charter, dated
November 16th, 1840.

The necessary legislation having at length
been enacted, on September 23rd, 1847, a
charter was signed dividing the Colony into
two Provinces—New Ulster and New Munster.
This was proclaimed in New Zealand on
March 10th, 1848. Portion of this Charter, how-
ever, was suspended for five years and before
it came into operation a new Constitution was
obtained. Under this the Provinces of New
Ulster and New Munster were abolished, and
the Colony was divided into six Provinces,
Auckland, New Plymouth (later altered to
Taranaki), Wellington, Nelson, Canterbury
and Otago. Each Province was to be presided
over by an elective superintendent, and have
an elective Provincial Council empowered to
legislate except on certain specified subjects.

The Provincial Governments, which were
afterwards increased to nine by the formation
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of Hawke’s Bay, Marlborough and Southland,
later reduced to eight by the merging of South-
land with Otago, and again increased to nine
by the formation of Westland (which was
originally part of the Province of Canterbury),
remained as integral parts of the Constitution
of the Colony until November 1st, 1876,
when they were abolished by an Act of the
General Assembly, and recreated as provincial
districts. It is worthy of note that the
originator of the name Westland was John
Rochfort, a pioneer explorer, who had applied
the name of Westmoreland to the country
lying west of the Southern Alps. It is
interesting here also to mention that among
the instructions given to Captain Hobson
on his appointment as the first Governor of
New Zealand was one that the Colony was
to be divided into “Counties, hundreds, and
parishes.” Very little was done towards giving
effect to these instructions, and the first admin-
istrative County was Westland, separated from
the Canterbury Province in 1867, and granted
a system of local government in the following
year. Known as West Canterbury, prior to
attaining the dignity of being made a separate
Province, Westland is bounded on the north
by the Province of Nelson, on the south by the
Province of Otago, on the east by the mighty
Southern Alps, and on the west by the
tempestuous Tasman Sea. It has an area of
about 4,500 square miles, the greater part
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of which is high mountainous country, and
bush clad to the snow line. In consequence of
this the rainfall is profuse, heavy at times, but
by no means continuous, periods of fine calm
weather with bright sunshine being frequently
experienced. As a result, the forest, while
dense, is luxuriant to a degree, and, as a matter
of fact, is sub-tropical in many places. Sir
Arthur Dudley Dobson, an authority already
quoted, paints, in “Reminiscences,” a virile pen
picture of the Province as it was in the begin-
ning; he says: “Westland from the Grey River
southwards presented, in 1863, a very different
aspect from what it does at the present time.
The whole of the country up to the snow line
and down to the water’s edge was covered with
thick forest. Every flood brought down to the
sea great quantities of timber, which were
thrown up on the beaches, and excepting
where the Coast was rock bound the timber
piled up in such vast masses that it was quite
a climb to get over it into the bush beyond.
In many places it was from ten to fifteen feet
in height, and from two to three chains in
width. At a distance from a river this belt
would get smaller, but it was always there.
Where the ground was low immediately
beyond high water mark, thick scrub grew,
with small patches of grass here and there.
The scrub on all the low ground was almost
impenetrable, small trees up to three and four
inches in diameter growing thickly together,
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tied up with a mass of supple-jack and lawyer
vines. I never attempted to penetrate the scrub
without a good sharp billhook. The early
diggers at Hokitika told a tale of how, when
camped on the beach, a man shot a pigeon on
a tree while standing at his tent door; he
pushed into the scrub to get it, but found it as
thick as a hedge, so he went on his hands and
knees crawling under the masses of vines. It
took him until dinner-time to reach the tree
on which he had shot the bird, and it took
him until dark to get back to the tent with
the pigeon, the distance being about sixty feet.
I can quite believe this to be true, for many
years afterwards I set out a line of railway from
Westport to the Ngakawau River through this
kind of scrub and in many cases it had to be
cut on the top as well as on both sides. In fact
it was like making a tunnel through the
vegetation. Before the diggers came water fowl
were very plentiful, and a canoe paddled
quietly up stream could go by without causing
much disturbance. It was charming to see the
teal perched on half submerged logs, and the
grey and paradise ducks paddling about among
the smaller fowl.”

Despite the fact that game was thus found
in abundance on the roaring rivers of West-
land they were its greatest menace. The
dangers of fearful alpine passes and trackless
forests were bad enough, and many, many
gallant men there laid down their lives,

c
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unhonoured and unsung. But the rivers, as
will be shown, claimed many victims, so many
that drowning became known as the “national
death.” Well and truly did Con O’Regan
describe the dangers and the dauntless men
who pioneered Old Westland as:

“. .. . Scorners of despair and fear,
Who roughed it by wild forest, craggy
fell,
And through swirl of roaring rivers for
many and many a year,
Daily faced the face of Death, and stood
it well.”

The Maoris unlike the early pioneers seldom
attempted to ford a river alone, hence they
suffered far less severely. They always travelled
in parties, their method being to get a strong
light pole long enough for all to get a good
hold of, the heaviest and strongest men taking
the upstream end, with more heavy men on
the other extremity, the women and children
being in between. They then all entered the
water together, keeping end on to the current,
and all heaving upstream, to keep the leader,
who broke the force of the water, on his feet;
in this manner very rapid rivers could be
crossed in comparative safety.

Westland, too, was utterly devoid of natural
harbours of any sort, there being a tremendous
difference between it and the East Coast of the
South Island. The latter, washed as it is by the
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expansive Pacific Ocean, has many good
harbours and safe beaches, while the former,
facing the narrow Tasman Sea, is storm lashed,
huge breakers rolling home with irresistible
force, making its bar-bound harbours extremely
dangerous —and beach travelling at times
impossible. As aptly illustrating this great
difference the Maoris in their expressive way
describe the Pacific Ocean as Tai-Tamahine,
the Sea of the Girls, and the Tasman Sea as
Tai-Tamatane, the Man Like Ocean. Yet
there later came to this wild uncharted shore,
hundreds of vessels of every size, sort and
description, carrying thousands upon thousands
of gold<crazed men, who were prepared to
lose their all in attempting to reach the new
El Dorado and the gold they knew was there.
In this way many vessels and many valuable
lives were lost. And still they came in their
thousands, and attempted to work those
perilous bar harbours, even though broken and
battered ships strewed the shore, starkly pro-
claiming that they who would wrest wealth
from Westland must be prepared to face
danger and death.



CHAPTER IV

The Pioneer Explorers, 184648 — Thomas Brun-
ner, F.R.GS.— Charles Heaphy, V.C.— Sir
William Fox — Brunner Traverses the Buller
and part of Westland's Coastline.

HE settlement of Nel-
son was founded early
in 1842, and some four
years later Messrs. Thomas
Brunner and Charles
Heaphy, who were con-
nected with the New Zea-
land Land Company, set
out to explore the country
we now know as West-
land, with a view “to
report on its resources and
potentialities as a field for further settlement.”
They left Nelson on March 17th, 1846, with
the Arahura River, in the heart of the green-
stone country, as their objective. They were
accompanied on this important expedition by
a Maori named Ekehu who had previously
visited the locality, and had been engaged as
guide.
They proceeded by way of the coastal route,
and when they reached West Wanganui, to the

Charles Heaphy
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south of Cape Farewell, the Maori Chief Niho
attempted to stop them from proceeding
further unless they paid him for the privilege
of so doing. Having no money whatsoever
they resorted to strategy, and enticed him to
cross the harbour in a canoe, where they left
him alone on the beach lamenting, and con-
tinued on their way.

When they reached Cape Foulwind, just
south of the Buller River, they examined the
hull of a vessel of about four hundred tons,
and learned from the Maoris living nearby,
that many bales of wool had come ashore from
this ill-fated ship, and that the crew who had
landed safely had been captured and eaten.
Subsequent enquiries proved this early wreck
to be that of the Rifleman—a wool ship which
had left Hobart, Tasmania, in 1825, and had
not been heard of again.

At length, sixty-five days after leaving
Nelson, they reached the Mawhera River
(Bright Running Water), to which Brunner
gave the name of Grey in honour of Sir
George Grey, at that time Governor of the
infant colony. During this journey they
suffered many privations, being forced to sub-
sist for the most part on the natural production
of the land. Apart from the problems of
obtaining adequate food supplies, the explorers
had other great difficulties to contend with, for
in those days, as has already been shown, the
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whole countryside from the snowline almost
to the sea was covered with heavy forest, and
Maori tracks were few and far between.

Brunner and Heaphy, who were the first
known white men to set foot within the
Mawhera Pa (an isolated Maori settlement
situated near the site of the town of Grey-
mouth), were hospitably received by the
natives, and after resting, proceeded south to
the Taramakau River.

[Authorities differ with regard to the spelling
of the word Taramakau. In The Times Atlas
the name of this river is spelt Teremakau.
Mr. Justice Chapman spelt it Taramakau. S. P.
Smith, “History and Traditions of the Tara-
naki Coast,” p. 166, says: “Teremakau, not
Taramakau.” Elsdon Best, “Pounamu or
Greenstone,” Dominion Museum Bulletin, 4,
pp. 156-196, says: “Taramakau, not Tere-
makau, as usually spelt.” Westland authorities,
too, consider there are no “e’s” in Taramakau,
an old-time draughtsman once remarking to
the writer, that if there was any doubt about
the spelling of the word, it was much stronger
looking, and more in keeping with the char-
acteristics of the river in question when spelt
in the manner adopted throughout this work.]

Here dwelt the native greenstone-workers,
skilled in the manufacture of those wonderful
weapons and ornaments peculiar to the Maori
race, and so laboriously fashioned from the
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boulders of pounamu found in the adjacent
streams. From Taramakau, the party pushed
on to the Arahura, but upon arrival discovered
that all the inhabitants of the pa had gone
inland on a bird-snaring expedition.

There was therefore no alternative but to
return to the Taramakau, and so back to
Mawhera. The following day found the
explorers and their native companion at the
last-named pa, and here they rested until
June 8th, when preparations were made for
the long and arduous return journey to Nelson.

Emaciated by hunger, and almost prostrated
by the privations and hardships they had
undergone, the little party eventually reached
West Wanganui, where they picked up stores
which had been sent overland. After a stay
here they returned to Nelson, arriving home on
August 18th, 1846, after an absence of nearly
six months.

In their report on the possibilities of the
Coast, the explorers stated “that it was
unfavourable for settlement, and that for the
most part its rivers were unfit for vessels to
enter.”

Thus Old Westland for the second time
received a bad report. Cook stated it was “an
inhospitable shore—unworthy of observation”
and Brunner and Heaphy condemned it as
aforesaid. Yet beneath the surface of this wild
land of forest and flood, lay that which was to
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“turn a howling wilderness into a busy haunt
of men”—for there, gold—gold beyond the
dreams of avarice, awaited the taking.

Prior to undertaking the expedition just
described, Brunner and Heaphy, accompanied
by William Fox (afterwards Sir William,
Premier of New Zealand, but at that time
Agent for the New Zealand Land Company
at Nelson), set out to “ascertain the nature
and extent of the tract of country lying on
the banks of the river flowing from Lakes
Roto-iti and Rotoroa to the West Coast, and
to learn whether a practicable route existed
‘across that part of the Island.” After reaching
the head waters of the river in question, which
we now know as the Buller, the party obtained
much useful data at great personal risk. On
one occasion Sir William Fox, when crossing
the river, almost lost his life, being washed off
his feet. He was burdened with a very heavy
swag and reached the shore with the greatest
difficulty. The party, after suffering many
hardships, were forced to return to Nelson.

On December 3rd, 1846, Brunner again
started on his travels, unaccompanied this
time by any European, but with a party of four
Maoris, two men named Ekehu and Epiki,
and their wives. His object was to explore the
Buller River to the sea from where he had
turned back with Messrs. Heaphy and Fox the
previous February, and to seek an opening to
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the eastwards from the lake country or from
the West Coast. It was evident that their
journey would necessarily be a protracted one,
though it was not expected that it would
occupy eighty weeks; and the slight prepar-
ation made for the undertaking is not the least
remarkable feature of this expedition when it
is considered that there was no chance of
obtaining fresh supplies, and that the greater
part of the country to be traversed was wholly
uninhabited.

The total outfit of food and clothing for
the whole party of five persons cost only
£33 9s. 4d,, a small sum considering the
magnitude of the undertaking. Of course the
journey had to be made on foot, and every
member of the party was his (or her) own
beast of burden. The actual provisions taken
were, 10 1bs. of flour, a few biscuits, and a small
quantity of tea, sugar, salt and pepper. The
bulk of the load consisted of clothing, two
guns and ammunition.

From the explorer’s diary, which was pub-
lished in 1848, the following story of this
outstanding accomplishment in the history of
exploration in New Zealand, has been culled:
The journey was commenced in easy stages
and a man employed to assist in conveying the
goods as far as Stratford’s sheep station in the
Motucka Valley, which was reached on
December 8th. This was at that time the most
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remote spot at which any European resided,
and Brunner remained there until the 11th to
obtain the services of a mule to pack the food
and equipment as far as Lake Roto-iti, which
was duly reached on the 13th. Here leave
was taken of Fraser, the shepherd who
accompanied them to that point, and of all
civilised life. The route was now the same as
that taken by Messrs. Fox, Heaphy and
Brunner in the early part of the year and Lake
Rotoroa was reached on the 18th. Here the
party suffered very severely from dysentery for
some days and remained in the neighbourhood
until the 30th, preparing fern root which would
be their principal item of food for some time.
The day following they set out for the Matuki-
tuki, and New Year’s Day, 1847, saw them
battling onward. Despite incessant rain and
great privations, they reached the foot of that
valley on January 16th. At this point the
Buller, having received the waters of both
Lakes Roto-iti and Rotoroa, and also several
tributary streams, becomes a deep and rapid
river.

It was here that Mr. Fox had been swept
away the preceding year in attempting to ford
it, and Brunner and his party found the
greatest difficulty in crossing also. Bad weather
now set in and it rained continuously, with the
result that all their food was spoiled. They
were compelled to retrace their steps to the
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Matukituki, to prepare fresh fern root, for such
was the character of the black birch country
through which they were passing that it pro-
vided not the slightest sustenance. They again
reached their former shelter on February 3rd,
and collected and prepared fern root until the
18th, when they once more proceeded on
their way.

Mr. Brunner states that at this stage his
load consisted of a gun, 7 Ibs. of shot, 8 Ibs. of
tobacco, two tomahawks, 2 pairs of boots, five
shirts, four pairs of trousers, a rug, a blanket,
and at least 301bs. of fern root. With such
heavy swags it was impossible to make rapid
headway through a thick bush interspersed
with lawyer vines, and two miles a day was
considered good going. On March Ist the last
handful of flour was used to thicken soup. On
the day following one of the Maori women
fell ill and this greatly retarded the progress
of the party. To make matters worse, Brunner
himself suffered the most excruciating pain
for some time, as did also one of the Maoris.
These seizures were attributed to the fern root
diet upon which they were now forced to live.
These delays so affected their progress that
their provisions were now almost exhausted
and they were reduced to one meal of fern
root each twenty-four hours.

In the black birch country through which
they struggled no food of any kind could be



44 Old Westland

obtained save an occasional eel caught in the
river. At length, on April 6th, after enduring
great hardships, the travellers reached better
and less broken country, where they obtained
an abundant supply of native birds. They
were now able to enjoy the luxury of two
meals each day. Their way now lay through
a valley of rich wooded land, and on the 10th
they reached the mouth of a good-sized river
flowing down a large valley which opened to
the southward.

By the 20th the termination of the valley
was reached and the party again entered a
mountain gorge. From this time until they
reached the coast on June 4th their sufferings
were intense. The country through which they
were passing was the worst of its kind, and
the scarcity of food was so great that Brunner
was compelled to shoot and eat his favourite
dog, being afterwards known to the Maoris as
Kai Kuri (dog eater). . . . In an entry a few
days later Brunner tells us that on one occasion
he was without food for almost three days. The
incessant rain experienced at this juncture
added greatly to their misery, scarcely a day
passing without a terrific downpour taking
place; and it is on record that it rained solidly
for several days in succession.

The trials and tribulations of the travellers
did not end here, however, for the natives
whom they expected to find at a pa on the
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coast were away and had left no food behind
them. Instead of enjoying the good meal of
potatoes they had looked forward to they were
compelled to eat seaweed which did not agree
with them. Two days later the natives returned
with fresh supplies of food and all was well.
Brunner rested here until June 15th, and then
set out for the Arahura Pa, which was about
one hundred miles further south. This pa was
reached without any great difficulty, and after
resting here for some time, they returned to
the Taramakau, where they remained until
the following spring.

It was not until October 12th that Brunner,
rested and refreshed, resumed his journey.
Writing on that date he states: “With a right
good will I mounted my load on my back and
after many shakes of the hand, and much
rubbing noses, I left the Taramakau natives,
and once more felt myself moving with my
inclinations. I had the company of three chiefs
here, Te-kau-hauke, Tipiha and Paeture and
his daughter, just in my opinion a nice little
party. We soon reached the Arahura and put
up for the night which proved to be a
rainy one.”

On the 15th they set out for Okitika
(Hokitika), a river of considerable size, at the
mouth of which there was formerly a large
pa. Here they remained for some days, and
then again proceeded south.
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The following significant entry appears on
the 21st of the same month. “I believe that I
may now assert that I have overcome the two
greatest difficulties to be met with by bushmen
in New Zealand, viz., the capability of walking
barefoot, and subsisting on fern root. The
first, the want of shoes had been a dread to
me for some time, often fearing I should be
left a barefooted cripple in some desolate
black birch forest on this deserted coast, but
now I can trudge along barefoot, or with a
pair of native sandals, called by the Maoris
parairai, which are made of leaves of the ti,
or flax tree. I can make a sure footing in
crossing rivers, ascending or descending
precipices, in fact I feel I am just commencing
to make exploring easy work. A good pair of
sandals will last about two days’ hard work,
and take about twenty minutes to make.”

Just prior to reaching the Okarito Pa they
passed the wreck of a large sealing boat, which
was a quarter mile inshore from high water
mark. Brunner noted that “the growth of the
bushes and the appearance of the wreck show
that the sea is fast receding from this coast.”
Okarito was originally a very large pa
principally used as a base for bird snaring and
fishing, and was regarded as of great import-
ance as a food producing centre. “That it
abounds in eels,” says Brunner, “I had full
proof of, during my visit here, our diet being
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nothing else, and was served out in liberal
quantities, to dogs as well as Christians, three
times a day. There are six natives living here,”
he continues, “two men and four women.
They are of the Wesleyan Church, and
apparently very punctual and zealous in their
worship.”

After a sojourn of six days they constructed a
raft of the blossom sticks of flax and so crossed
the lagoon, walking on a further four miles to
another stream. There they were obliged to
erect a shelter, very bad weather setting in.

On the last day of October they were still
sheltering and the natives proposed returning
to Okarito for divine service on the Sunday.
To this Brunner agreed, knowing, he states,
“that we should get a good dinner and more
comfortable lodging there.” The explorer here
comments most interestingly on the religious
fervency of the Maoris: “I am much aston-
ished,” he mentions, “to find that even in these
distant parts so much should be said by the
natives belonging to the Church of England,
and the Wesleyans, relative to their form of
religion. Although in some places there are
only six or eight natives, yet they have two
places of worship and two schools; and are
always quarrelling about religion, each party
asserting its way to be the proper service to
God. There are some few who have been
christened by the Revd. C. L. Reay and a few



48 Old Westland

by Mr. Aldred, the Ministers of the two
Churches in Nelson.”

On November 9th Brunner was “again
southing,” passing through country which he
described as worthless. On the 14th they
reached a small Maori settlement called
Porangirangi, where there was a potato garden,
and the travellers, “assured of a good meal,
stopped for the night and the Sabbath.” On
the 16th the night was spent in another native
settlement, Parika, where, states Brunner, “we
received the welcome of strangers, in a
bountiful supply of fern root, preserved wekas
and fish.”

The hospitality of the natives at Parika was
enjoyed for the next two days, during which
sufficient eels were caught and dried to provide
food for one week as the country ahead was
said to be devoid of sustenance of any sort.
On the 19th, when approaching the Waiho,
Brunner met with a most unfortunate accident.
Rounding a small headland he was washed
from a rock by a heavy sea, both his feet being
badly crushed and his right ankle severely
sprained. Finding it impossible to proceed he
attempted to return to Parika, but was pre-
vented from so doing that day by his lameness
and the incoming tide making beach travelling
impossible. On the following day, however,
they were successful and Brunner dressed his
broken feet with weka oil and bandaged and
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bathed his ankle, which was now very badly
swollen. Here, suffering intensely, he was
compelled to remain until December 10th.
During this time the weather was very bad,
continuous rain being experienced. As a result
of this the rivers became flooded, natives
reporting the Waiho as unfordable.

Brunner, who at this time was seriously ill,
made the following entry on December 11th:
“Yesterday I resolved to return to Mawhera,
and rejoin my own Maoris, and endeavour
once more to see a white face and hear my
native tongue, so I retraced my steps to
Porangirangi. I was induced to make Parika
(Paringa, as we know it) the terminus of my
southing for several reasons: my lameness had
made me anxious to return to Nelson, the
summer season was fast approaching to a close
and I dreaded the idea of another long winter.
The country I was passing through was quite
worthless,and certainly so in respect to Nelson,
and I had a wish of returning by a fresh route
and of seeing more of the country. I also
resolved to try getting back by the Mawhera if
I should abandon the idea of crossing the island
from the Taramakau to PortLevy. Had I urged
the natives to proceed further south with me, I
could not get their services to assist me with a
canoe up the Mawhera, so that being here
without resources I was very much at the
mercy of the natives. When I told Te Raipo of

D
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my resolution of returning he was very glad
and said that having only one white man was
too big a responsibility on his hands; if there
were two he would not care, as, if any accident
occurred, one might live to tell the fate of the
other. ‘But,’ he said, ‘if you died it would be
said that I had killed you for the sake of eating
or plunder.’ . ..”

Travelling back in fine weather and by easy
stages, Brunner reached the Arahura on
December 22nd where he notes he “feasted on
new potatoes, a treat—having lived lately on
fish.” The day following he walked to the
Taramakau, and on Christmas Eve reached
the Mawhera Pa, where many natives had
gathered to celebrate fittingly the religious
services pertaining to this great occasion.



CHAPTER V

Brunner at Mawhera Pa—Discovery of Brunner
Coal Seam — Lake Brunner — Traverse of
Inangahua — Brunner Seriously Il — Heroic
Struggle to Nelson.

HE year 1848 did not

open auspiciously for
Brunner, who was still
resting at the Mawhera
Pa. He was thoroughly
run down and his teeth
at this time became a
source of great trouble to
him, his face becoming so
badly swollen that he
could not eat for some
days. Recovering some- Thomas Brunner
what, he walked twenty miles south to Okitika
for a kit of dried fish a Maori had given him.
This was a very welcome addition to the scanty
store of food he had managed to get together
to be used on the return to Nelson, via the
Mawhera (Grey) River.

The weather being favourable, Brunner on
January 25th set out on this historic journey,
a journey which was to prove momentous in
the history of Westland, as it was marked by
his discovery of the famous coal seam near the
site of the town which to-day bears his name.
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The discovery is thus graphically described
by the traveller in his journal:—

“This morning we freighted our canoes with
provisions, clothes, and fishing apparatus. I
considered myself on board the admiral’s canoe,
which was the largest and first to start, having
in company three others. The names of the
canoes that ascended the river with me were
Te Wairakou, with myself and nine natives;
Te Maikai, with my four natives and Apera-
hama; Te Paickau, with two natives carrying
nets, etc., for fishing; and Te Matamata, with
four natives; so I think I am well equipped,
considering I had nothing to give the natives
for all their trouble, except good wishes.

“There was much crying when I left, and
apparently some good feeling towards me.
They told me to return amongst them and
share what they had, and, although tobacco is
very much valued among them, they offered
me two sticks, the half of all their stock.

“It is really an exciting scene to see four
canoes poling and paddling up a fine stream
on a clear day. We came up about five miles
of the river, and camped at an old fishing
station, prettily placed on an island called
‘Moutapu,” which rises about 100 feet above
the level of the river. At this point the river
is confined between two low black birch hills,
part of the coast range.
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“The level land of the coast reaches to this
point—all timbered, chiefly with rata, on either
side of the river.

“About a mile above Moutapu is a seam of
coal, apparently of very fine quality, which
presents itself under a stratum of mica slate.
The coal is very hard and brittle, very bright
and sparkling, burns freely, and is free from
smell. The seam is some feet deep and level
with the river’s edge, but at least 100 feet below
the surface of the earth.”

On the 27th the party proceeded up the
Mawhera to the point where it joins with the
river now known as the Arnold, and here they
remained for two days, this being a particularly
good fishing ground. On the 29th they
ascended the Arnold, reaching the lake which
now bears Brunner’s name, in the evening.
This lake the explorer describes as “a fine
sheet of water, about six or seven miles square,
near the middle of which is an island where
we camped.”

This island is where the Maoris kept their
prisoners and was the scene of the last
cannibalistic feast on the West Coast. From
time to time, in later years, many greenstone
ornaments and weapons have been found here,
and old-time Coast natives asserted that much
fighting had taken place in the vicinity.

On January 30th, Brunner made the follow-
ing entry in his diary: “This is the lake
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frequented by the natives on their way to the
East Coast. This is a memorable day for me,
having just put my last bit of tobacco in my
pipe. I am afraid time, or rather wet weather,
will seem long as I now have no amusement
left. . .. There is a fresh water mussel, called
Kaichau, abounding in this lake which we
also found in Rotoroa, which, when boiled
with the roots of the raupo, or bullrush, makes
a palatable dish, and is the favourite meal of
the celebrated savage Rauparaha.”

On the following day the return journey to
the Mawhera River was made, and on
February 1st Brunner said good-bye to the
Coast natives and with his original party set
out for Nelson. He travelled up the
Mawhera-iti, or Little Grey, and, crossing the
Waimunga Saddle, dropped down into the
valley of the Inangahua, following this river
down to its confluence with the Buller, which
was reached just four weeks later.

April was ushered in by very bad weather
and the river they were traversing soon
became very high. On the 3rd the rain con-
tinued to pour down, and at midday a stream
came rolling down the cliffs at the foot of
which the travellers were camped, totally
destroying the shelter they had erected. So
rapid was the rise of the river that they were
compelled to build a ladder and so reach a
ledge some twenty feet higher up the cliff.
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Here they found shelter from the wind but
none from the rain, and it was with the
greatest difficulty that they managed to keep
their food from being spoiled.

They were compelled to remain in this
uncomfortable position until the 10th, by which
time their supplies were consumed and they
were forced to proceed in the hope of procuring
sustenance of some kind. Later in the after-
noon they managed to obtain a small supply
of fern root, but on the day following they
had no food whatever. On the 12th and 13th
they managed to net a quantity of grayling,
and, the weather clearing, good progress was
made on the 14th.

On the 15th Brunner became seriously ill,
his entry for that day being as follows: “This
morning I could not stir, having lost the use
of my side, and although I had never before
been a hindrance to the natives, always carrying
my full share of the loads and helping to get
firewood, etc., yet I had the mortification
of hearing Epiki propose to Ekehu that they
should proceed and leave me, saying that I
appeared too ill to recover soon, if ever, and
that the place where they were was devoid of
food, but Ekehu refused to leave me; Epiki
and his wife then moving onwards. I received
great kindness from Ekehu and his wife for
the week I was compelled to remain here, the
woman attending me kindly and Ekehu
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working hard to obtain food for us, always
pressing on me the best. He frequently told
me he would never return to Nelson
without me.”

The next three days were fine, but food was
desperately scarce. Ekehu, it is recorded, was
able to snare three thrushes and find a small
quantity of fern root only. On the 20th
Brunner was able to drag himself about, but
was still without the use of his side. Two days
later he states: “Although I could only stand
on one leg, yet I resolved to try and proceed.
Ekehu had scoured the country but could find
nothing eatable within reach, and he would
not leave me for a night, so he carried my bed
clothes forward for some distance and partly
by carrying and partly by leading assisted me
along.”

For the next three days this dauntless man,
more dead than alive, battled on without food;
then Ekehu found two fern trees, the roots
of which they cooked in a Maori oven and ate.
Shortly after this they came across Epiki and
his wife, who were also starving and scouring
the country for food.

At this stage Brunner was very far through,
will power alone driving him on, for he could
not now travel without assistance and to add to
his misery heavy rain fell almost continuously
and he was wet through all the time. Yet
still he battled on. At length they reached
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a stream called by the natives Muri-ira, which
they attempted to ford but it was too deep and
rapid for them in their weakened state. No
material with which to construct a raft being
available, they were obliged to ascend the river
four miles before they could cross. On
reaching the other side they found firewood
to be plentiful and building a huge fire they
sat round it in the rain. No shelter of any
sort was nearby, nor had they any food.

On Sunday, the 28th, they reached the banks
of the Buller once more and here they again
put in the night without food or shelter. On
the last day of April they arrived at their old
camp at the Matukituki which was still
standing, and, collecting a great supply of fern
root, they made, with the utmost dispatch, a
meal of it. Here they remained for three weeks,
Brunner being desperately ill again, and as he
says, “unable to proceed through inability.” So
bad was he that his left eye and hand as well
as his side were affected. To add to his trials
he “was seized with a violent vomiting,” which
he attributed to the badness of the living and
continued exposure to the cold weather. On
May 20th he resumed his struggle onward,
covering a little ground and coming up with
Epiki and his wife, who meantime had caught
some wekas which provided at long last a good
supper. Two days later there was a fall of
snow and they were forced to take shelter.
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On the 24th they reached a camp they had
occupied the year before and here a very
serious misfortune overtook Brunner. Being
wet through they had hung their clothes, etc.,
up to dry and during the night a kit belonging
to the explorer fell into the fire and was
burnt. This contained all his sketches, several
skins of birds, some curiosities, and two letters
which he carried for the Messrs. Deans (the
original settlers on the Canterbury Plains) in
case he should cross over to the East Coast.
During the early part of June it snowed every
day, the weather generally being very bad and
progress slow. It was also very cold and this
seriously affected Epiki and his wife who
suffered from cramp and were forced to rest at
intervals. Proceeding slowly on they reached
Lake Rotoroa on the evening of the 5th and
found the canoe they had left there the year
previously in excellent condition. The night
was spent in their old camp, and the following
day they crossed the lake without any difficulty.
On the evening of the 7th they erected two
shelters. These were made of black birch,
“one of which,” states Brunner, “fell down
and struck my lame side while I was sleeping
by the fire and hurt me very much.” For the
next three days there was continuous snow and
rain, and they had no food at all. On the 12th
they struggled on to their old quarters at Lake
Roto-iti, where they saw six sheep and the



T homas Brunner 59

tracks of a large flock which very much
astonished them. It was still snowing heavily.
On the following day they with great difficulty
crossed the Roto-iti River which was in heavy
flood. On the 14th they managed to catch
fourteen woodhens and all were able to enjoy
a good meal again.

An old survey camp which had fallen was
reached on the 15th. “Ekehu and his wife
much wished to stop here,” writes Brunner, “as
Epiki and his wife were behind. I said that I
should push on and endeavour to spend the
night at Fraser’s, at all events on the side of
the Motueka, and when I mentioned tea and
bread the woman agreed to follow me. 1
pushed on to prevent hearing the grumbling
of Ekehu about sore feet, for after dark we
were sorely pricked by the ground thorn, and
reached Fraser’s at ten oclock at night. He
rose and gave me a real hearty welcome, and
a smoke of good tobacco. So I thanked God
that I had once more reached the abode of
civilised man, of which I had many fears
during my illness, the thought of which
preyed on my mind. It is a period of nearly
five hundred and sixty days since I wished
Fraser good-bye on the banks of the Roto-iti
River and my secing him at his house this
evening. I have never during this time heard a
word of English save the broken gibberish of
Ekehu and the echo of my own voice, and I



60 Old Westland

rather feel astonished to find I could both
understand and speak English as well as ever,
for during many wet days, I had never spoken
a word of my own language, nor conversed
even in Maori, of which I was well tired.”
From Fraser’s it was a comparatively simple
matter for the little expedition to reach the
rising settlement of Nelson from which they
had been absent for over eighteen months.
Brunner in his report to the New Zea-
land Government made a strong appeal for
the natives scattered along the West Coast,
who were isolated and cut off by natural
barriers from the rest of their countrymen.
They had received no assistance from the
Government or the two missionary bodies who
were doing their best for the native race in
other parts of the colony. He further suggested
the introduction of goats which he considered
would do well, and greatly assist in solving the
food problem, none knowing better than he
the difficulty of subsisting on the meagre
natural production of the wild and broken
country that he had been the first to explore.
To-day, thousands of tourists, passing
through the City of Nelson en route to West-
land’s Scenic Wonderland, speed along well-
constructed highways, traversing some of
the most magnificent seascape, forest and
mountain scenery in the world, and reach in
a few hours the Waiho, where is situated the
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famous Franz Josef Glacier and near the term-
ination point of Brunner’s “southing.” Because
of the luxurious comfort enjoyed during this
never-to-be-forgotten motor drive, some may
be prone to disparage the explorer’s achieve-
ment of nearly a century ago. But it should
ever be remembered that the forest through
which he walked (or crawled when the
undergrowth became too thick) was then in
its primeval condition, with innumerable spurs
and gullies to be reconnoitred, with flooded
rivers (which held him up for weeks on end)
to be crossed, and miles of howling black birch
country, utterly devoid of natural food of any
sort, to be traversed. Remember, too, that at
times he was starving, and so weakened by
constant exposure to the weather, that he fell
ill, and had it not been for the devotion of the
Maori Ekehu and his wife, would have died.
Yet even when all these things are taken into
consideration, the actual extent of the privations
suffered by Thomas Brunner could only have
been known in reality to the adventurous
explorers who followed, and to the fearless
gold miners, who travelled, years later, over
much of the same ground in their frenzied
search for the metal royal.

Brunner’s services were recognized in the
colony and in London, the Royal Geo-
graphical Society’s medal being awarded to
him; and who was more entitled to receive
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this distinction than he who proudly stated in
his diary that he believed he had overcome the
two greatest difficulties to be met with by
bushmen in New Zealand, “the capability of
walking barefoot and of subsisting on fern
root” ?

The intrepid Brunner blazed the trail and
in so doing gave to the world the first authentic
information pertaining to Old Westland,
incidentally adding his name to the scroll of
fame as a great explorer.

Brunner was subsequently appointed Chief
Surveyor for the Province of Nelson. He died
in 1874, aged 50 years, his early death being
the direct result of the hardships and priva-
tions endured while exploring the Coast.

Charles Heaphy, Brunner’s companion
during the expedition of 1846, removed to
Auckland after his return to Nelson, and
served with distinction in the Maori Wars,
during which campaign he rose to the rank of
major, and was decorated for conspicuous
gallantry, being awarded the V.C. Upon the
cessation of hostilities he received the appoint-
ment of Chief Surveyor for the Auckland
Province, and for several years represented
Parnell in the House of Representatives, besides
being the holder of various public offices.
Broken in health he ultimately retired from
public life and settled in Brisbane, where he
died in 1881.



CHAPTER VI

Subsequent Explorers — The QOakes Expedition,
1857 — James Mackay Explores Grey Valley
—Harper and Locke Cross Southern Alps, 1857
— James Mackay’s Second Visit, 1859 — John

Rochforr.

T was not until nine years

after the departure of
Brunner that Europeans
again visited Westland,and
then they came by way of
the sea. These adventurous
voyagers were the Oakes
brothers, Thomas, John,
and Joseph, who set
out in March, 1857, from
Port Cooper (Lyttelton),
in the schooner Emerald

John Rochfort

Isle, bound for the West Coast, in quest of
gold. They sailed down the East Coast and
round the southern end of the South Island,
then beating up the West Coast reached
Martin’s Bay where they landed and spent
some days prospecting. Coming further north
they put into Jackson’s Bay, where they
obtained a little gold, afterwards proceeding
to the Hokitika River which they entered in
good style, theirs being the first known vessel
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to do so. Here a few days were spent in pros-
pecting with very encouraging results. Pro-
ceeding still further north they arrived off
the Grey River, and standing boldly in,
successfully crossed the bar and made fast
to the trees of the forest. The Emerald Isle
was thus the first vessel to enter the Grey,
though many writers give this honour to the
Gipsy in 1860, and in the case of Hokitika, to
the S.S. Nelson in 1864, the Oakes Expedition
being entirely overlooked. Safely inside, the
brothers proceeded up the Grey River in the
ship’s boat, and located the coal scam dis-
covered by Brunner, believing they were the
first to do so. They carried out prospecting
operations in various parts of the district,
obtaining some good gold, later returning to
Port Cooper where they reported their dis-
covery. In 1895 the leader of the party,
Thomas Oakes, petitioned Parliament for some
recognition for being the first to discover the
metal royal in Westland, but without avail.

The Oakes brothers were a splendid type of
adventurous men, who dared and overcame
the perils of a wild uncharted coast. They
were the first Europeans to report the existence
of gold in Westland, for which they received
no reward and have long since passed by, like
ships in the night, without recognition.

The next to carry on the work of exploration
was James Mackay, a Government Land
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Purchase Officer, who reached the Mawhera
Pa in March, 1857. This daring explorer of
the West Coast, described to the writer by
the late Sir Arthur Dudley Dobson as “the
peer of them all,” was born in Scotland in
1831, and some fourteen years later landed
with his parents at Nelson. In his youth he
explored the greater part of the mountainous
country in the vicinity of his home—a task
which fitted him well for the strenuous years
ahead, when he was to lead many expeditions
successfully through wild and trackless lands,
and to earn for himself, by self sacrifice,
determination, and outstanding ability, an
honoured place in the annals of New Zealand’s
pioneer explorers. Mackay’s career from the
outset was a most remarkable one, he having
the distinction of being made a Goldfields
Warden in 1858, then being only twenty-seven
years of age, this appointment being the first
of its kind in the colony.

Mackay’s first expedition took place in
1856, when he traversed the whole of the
mountainous country lying between the head
waters of the Aorere, Heaphy (Wakapoai),
Mackay (Karamea), and Anatoki Rivers, and
also a portion of the country between the
sources of the Takaka and Karamea Rivers;
whilst in 1857 he travelled along the sea-coast
from West Wanganui to the Grey River. In

E
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his first exploration he was accompanied by
John Clarke, of Pakawau, two Massacre
(Golden) Bay natives going with him on his
second trip.

On this latter occasion soundings were taken
when at the Buller which was found to be
navigable for coasting vessels of considerable
draught. Proceeding south, the little party
arrived at the Miko Cliffs (better known after-
wards as Jacob’s Ladder), near Romney Point.
The ladders which were used by the natives to
scale the cliffs were found to be decayed and
had to be restored. This took some considerable
time, and when they had at length ascended
and hoisted up their swags and dogs they
heard voices exclaiming, “He Kuri Pakeha! He
Kuri Pakeha!” (a dog of European breed),
they having encountered a party of Maoris
bound for the Buller, who immediately took
to the bush and there remained for some time,
being afraid to approach the exploring party.
Gaining confidence somewhat later, the natives
seemed very pleased at seeing a European as
no white man had been there since Brunner’s
visit in 1847. At Mackay’s request they agreed
to cancel their trip to the Buller and to return
to Mawhera with him. On arrival there
Mackay made known his intention of
exploring some open grass land at Ahaura, in
the Grey Valley, and he made arrangements
with the natives to convey him there in a
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canoe by way of the Grey River, agreeing to
pay them the sum of £10 for so doing. All
went well until they had proceeded a few
miles on their journey, when the Westland
natives persuaded the Massacre Bay Maoris not
to proceed further unless Mackay divided £50
between them. The explorer, who was then a
strong athletic young man of about twenty-five
years of age, declined to do so, and on being
threatened threw one of the Maoris into the
river, and knocked another down in the canoe.
Tarapuhi, the local chief, then appeared on the
scene, acted as peacemaker, and volunteered to
go as guide. When the industrial history of
Westland comes to be written, this incident
should be regarded as the first of the many
strikes that have taken place in the province
and also noted as being of the shortest duration
to date.

Mackay explored the grass and open country
at the Ahaura, Totara Flat, and Mawhera-iti
(Little Grey), and then returned to the mouth
of the Grey River where he took soundings in
a canoe, with the result that he found the river
navigable for small craft. He afterwards
returned to Nelson by the coastal route,
carrying with him the first sample of Brunner
coal that ever left the district. After his return
he was appointed Assistant Under-Secretary
for Native Affairs as there were grave disputes
between the Maoris and Europeans who were
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at that period working the Aorere Goldfields.
It is necessary to note here that although
Messrs. Brunner and Heaphy had pronounced
the rivers of Westland “for the most part unfit
for vessels to enter,” Mackay by actual
soundings proved this to be incorrect, with the
result that from this date small ships were
always used when food supplies were needed.

The same year is marked by the fact that for
the first time white men crossed the Southern
Alps from the Canterbury side, and after a
terrible journey duly reached their objective,
the Mawhera Pa. These men were Messrs.
Harper and Locke, who travelled by way of
the Hurunui River. This was the pass most
generally used by the Maoris, and had been
known to them centuries before the coming of
the pakeha.

Leonard Harper, the leader of the party, was
the son of the first Bishop of Christchurch, and
he persuaded Tainui, the Maori Chief, who was
on a visit to Kaiapoi, to guide Locke and him-
self across the Alps. He started from Kaiapoi
on October 30th, 1857, and overtook the Maoris
who had gone on in advance near the station
now known as “Horsley Down.” All their
equipment and provisions were carried on pack
horses and they made excellent progress until
they came to the south bank of the Hurunui.
There they came across an old canoe and
packing all their equipment into it, they towed
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it along the bank until they came to Lake
Sumner. Here they turned loose their horses
owing to the rough nature of the country, and
dividing their food, tents, etc., among them-
selves, proceeded on foot. Bad weather set in
when they reached the foot of the saddle, and
for two days they were compelled to stay in
camp. As soon as the weather cleared they
started again and reached the top of the pass
without mishap. From here they were able to
see about twenty miles down the valley of the
Taramakau. For some distance this valley was
narrow and very rough, high boulders being
strewn in every direction, while the bush was
thick and hard to travel in—being almost
impenetrable. After they had battled their way
about fifteen miles down the Taramakau, they
came to the Otira River, where they were
compelled to camp for some days owing to the
bad weather prevailing. Again resuming their
journey, they made rapid progress to Lake
Brunner. Here they rested a few days, the
Maoris with them advising that the Arnold
River was navigable for canoes, and that they
could make the Mawhera Settlement easily in
one day, but the party decided to proceed by
way of the Taramakau. The going from this
point became much rougher and it was decided
to construct a raft of flax sticks and use this
as a means of transport. The raft being com-
pleted, they camped for the night on an island
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in mid stream. Before morning, rain com-
menced to fall in torrents and the river rapidly
rose and commenced to flood the island. The
rain continuing, there was nothing left but to
take to the raft. On their embarking, they
were at once whirled away by the current, and
in dire peril. After travelling down stream for
some distance they were able to land on
another island and there remained until the
flood subsided. From this point they dropped
down the river without further adventure until
they came to the Maori Pa not far from the
mouth. Here they were well received by the
natives and rested for some days. The journey
to this point had occupied 23 days, much
longer than was expected, and in consequence
their food supply had run out, and they were
compelled to live on what they were able to
catch. In this respect the Maoris showed
wonderful ingenuity in trapping birds, while
eels were also in good supply. From the pa
they proceeded north to the Mawhera, accom-
panied by Chief Tarapuhi. Here Locke broke
down, his feet giving out with the rough
travelling he had undergone.

Leonard Harper, after resting for some time,
decided to proceed south, and he continued
down the Coast for over 200 miles. On this trip
he saw the great glaciers, the Franz Josef, and
the Fox, which he named the Albert and the
Victoria respectively, after the Prince Consort
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and Queen Victoria. These names were not
adopted.  Still proceeding south, Harper
and Tarapuhi reached Big Bay. Here they
stayed some time, then came back to the
Taramakau by easy stages, many Maoris
accompanying them. At the Taramakau,
Locke was met, having recovered completely
and at once preparations were made for a
return journey across the alps. Tarapuhi was
engaged as guide, as two of the natives who
had made the trip over decided to remain.
On this occasion the party went as far as
possible up the river in canoes, and in eight
days they had reached the top of the pass and
had crossed into Canterbury. Here they met
with bad weather and were snowed up for
some time. To make matters worse their
clothes, which were torn to pieces, gave but
little protection against the intense cold. Some-
how or other they managed to battle their way
on to Lake Sumner, where they sheltered
in a shepherd’s hut for some time before
proceeding to Christchurch. The whole trip
occupied over three months and was very
strenuous throughout, great hardships being
suffered. At the same time much valuable
information was obtained, the most notable
being the fact that gold was to be found in
many places. Some splendid specimens were
obtained and brought back to the Provincial
Government officials, but they, fearing a wave
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of undesirables, did not make public the story
of the discovery, and strange to say, it was not
until seven years later that the news leaked
out, and when it did, thousands of fortune
hunters poured over this pass to Westland, the
new El Dorado.

By way of an interlude, and in an endeavour
to tell this story in its chronological sequence
it must be noted that in the year 1858 there
came the first persistent whispers that gold was
existent on the West Coast. So much was this
so that on April 17th of that year the Nelson
Examiner, then one of the foremost and best
informed papers in the colony, announced the
discovery of gold at the Buller, in the south-
west portion of the Nelson Province, stating
that: “A West Coast Chief, Tarapuhi, and his
brother, Tainui, returned to Canterbury with
G. W. H. Lee, who had taken up the first run
on the West Coast, in the Grey district. They
brought specimens of small scaly gold with
them, stating that it had been brought down in
great quantities from a hill called Whakapoi,
on the north bank of the Buller River, and that
it could be found in abundance.” In the latter
part of the year 1858 James Mackay and Major
John Lockett did a considerable amount of
exploration between the head waters of the
Takaka, Karamea (Mackay), and Wangaro
Rivers, and discovered Mount Lockett, Mount
Peel and the Diamond Lakes.
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In 1859 James Mackay, accompanied by his
cousin, Alexander Mackay (one time Com-
missioner and Judge of the Native Land
Court), again travelled to Westland, their
mission being to purchase from the natives
all the lands, comprising about seven and
a half million acres, between Kahurangi
Point and Milford Haven, and extending
inland to the watershed of the East and West
Coasts. On this occasion Mackay elected to
travel by way of the alpine route, and when
the party reached Lake Sumner they found
John Rochfort, who had entered into a contract
to survey the southern boundary of the
Province of Nelson, and to traverse the Grey
and Buller Rivers, and a portion of the coast-
line, camped there waiting for the weather to
improve before attempting the crossing into
Westland. The two parties for mutual
protection and assistance joined forces, and
towards the end of April tried to cross the
saddle dividing the Hurunui and Taramakau
Rivers. A very heavy fall of snow, however,
made this impossible, and they were forced to
go into camp again, where they remained for
one week. When the weather cleared Mackay
and Rochfort took the lead and good progress
was made until they came to a bluff which
compelled them to cross the Taramakau. In
so doing Rochfort lost his footing on a slippery
ledge of rock, and was rapidly carried down the
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river, the current tossing him about in all
directions, and as he was carrying a very heavy
swag he had but little chance of helping
himself.

Fortunately Mackay had chosen a place
further down the river to make his effort to
cross, and seeing the danger that Rochfort was
in, he grasped, when in mid-stream, a large
rock with one hand and with the other was
able to get a firm hold of his companion as he
was being carried past. With the utmost
difficulty and at great personal risk he
managed to hold Rochfort’s head above water
until the rest of the party came to his
assistance.

In official records this incident, like many
others of a similar nature, is not commented
upon. Such happenings were all in the day’s
work. Mackay, in a spirit of brotherhood
almost beyond human understanding, was as
a matter of course prepared to lay down his
life for his friend, and he was no exception to
the rule. The pioneers of Westland, in
common with the pioneers of the whole of the
Dominion, put service before personal safety,
be the cost of that service what it may . . . .
even life itself.

Proceeding, the parties kept together until
they reached the Otira Stream, where Rochfort
commenced his surveying operations, traversing
the Taramakau to the Pakihi Plain, thence to
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Lake Brunner and then down the River
Arnold to the Mawhera Pa. The Mackays on
the other hand followed the Taramakau down
to the sea and then proceeded north along the
coast to Mawhera, where negotiations were
begun for the purchase of lands from the
natives, who agreed to take two hundred
pounds, but declined to sell the block lying
between the Grey and Hokitika Rivers.

The Mackays, thus being unable to come to
terms with the Maoris, decided to return to
Nelson by way of Maruia Plain and the
Upper Buller, but after a desperate struggle,
during which they suffered many privations,
they were forced to retrace their steps to the
Mawhera Pa, later proceeding by the coastal
route to the Buller, where they found the cutter
Supply and embarked for Nelson.
. It is necessary to state here that Mackay

and Rochfort had chartered this little vessel
(John Walker, Master) to bring provisions to
the Grey, but owing to bad weather she had
been unable to enter there and had landed
their supplies at the Buller. With regard to
the cutter Supply, many writers state she was
the first vessel to enter the Buller, but this is
not so, the schooner Three Brothers, Captain
Thoms in command, having done so in
January, 1844, some fifteen years previously.

Reverting again to Rochfort, who had
meantime proceeded to the Buller, it should
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be noted in view of his subsequent activities
in Westland, that he had had considerable
Australian experience before settling in Nelson,
and also that he was a first-class Maori scholar,
who trained natives to assist him. Being also
without peer as a bushman, he was admirably
equipped for the dangerous and strenuous
duties pertaining to his profession in a wild
and almost unknown land. It has been written
of John Rochfort that, “in traversing the
mighty Buller River from its source to the sea,
he accomplished a feat unparalleled in the
history of surveying in this colony, that is,
he managed for many months to carry out
his work in a dense forest country without
stores and provisions, other than the indigenous
natural production of the district”; for he
had the dire misfortune to lose all his pro-
visions when a canoe was upset at the com-
mencement of the work. He discovered the
famous coal seams at Mount Rochfort, near
Westport, and found several small pieces of
gold at the Old Diggings in November, 1859,
and was thus the first to discover the
existence of the precious metal in the Buller.
Later he carried out a series of surveys in
Westland, traversing the coastline in 1864,
while the following year when laying out the
town of Greymouth he named its principal
street Mackay in honour of his friend and
fellow explorer.
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James Mackay cuts Track from Roto-iti Plains to
Grey River, 1860 — Purchase of Native Lands
—The Deed of Sale—Rent of Reserves amounts

to £424,000.

JAMES Mackay, it will be

remembered, had
embarked at the Buller,
on the cutter Supply for
Nelson, and on his arrival
there, he was ordered to
proceed to Auckland, for
the purpose of interview-
ing Governor Gore
Browne with regard to
the purchase of the West
Coast from the natives.

James Mackay

After receiving Mackay’s report, the Governor
instructed him to offer the Maoris a sum not
exceeding £400, and to do his utmost to close

the deal.

So once more in February, 1860, the explorer
set out for Westland, with the four hundred
sovereigns in his swag. This time he was
accompanied by Alexander Mackay, Frank
Flowers, and three Maoris from the Massacre
Bay District. They travelled to the Roto-iti
Plains with the intention of finding a
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practicable roadline via the Upper Buller and
Maruia to the Grey at the point where
Mackay’s exploration had terminated the
previous year. Sir Julius von Haast, who had
been engaged soon after his arrival in New
Zealand to report on the geology of the south-
western part of the Province of Nelson,
accompanied the explorers during a portion of
their expedition. He remained in the vicinity
of the Tiraumea, awaiting a fresh supply of
provisions, whilst the explorers were engaged
in cutting a track for his guidance up the
Maruia Valley, through the bush and on to
the grass plains. At this time the party were
almost destitute of provisions, and the supplies
of birds and fern root were very scanty—so
scanty, indeed, that it was considered wise for
Alexander Mackay and Frank Flowers to
return to Nelson, leaving James Mackay and
the natives to carry on alone.

They made little headway, however, owing
to the lack of food and to the fact that the
Maoris became disheartened and refused to
proceed further. They said, “We are in an
unknown country, which is inhabited by
wild men and great lizards, which will
presently appear . . . . we will return to
Nelson, or lie down and quietly die in the
camp” . . . . they were indeed starving and
exhausted. Mackay’s determination, however,
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prevailed and somechow
or other he kept them
going —though at this
time his own right knee
was so badly swollen, hav-
ing been poisoned by
spear grass, that he had to
cut and gash it with a
razor and so reduce the
swelling that he might
proceed.

A little later, when the
situation was desperate, Mackay sighted a dis-
tant hill which he had ascended when in the
upper Grey district, and was therefore able to
define his position and assure the natives that
they would reach the Mawhera Pa in two days’
time. This assumption was correct, and so
ended a terrible journey which lasted no less
than seven weeks. In this connection be it
noted the Nelson Provincial Government voted
Mackay a bonus of £150 for “defining the
track from the Roto-iti Plains, via Maruia, to
the mouth of the Grey River.”

On his arrival at the Mawhera Pa on
March 2nd, 1860, Mackay found S. M. Mackley,
a Nelson settler, and seven Massacre Bay
natives there. They had travelled down the
coast from Collingwood, Mackley’s mission
being the location of an area suitable for
farming purposes. Fortunately, in his youth,

S. M. Mackley
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he had studied for the medical profession,
and, having a few simple remedies with him,
he treated Mackay’s knee with such good
effect that that indomitable man was ready
for the road again in a few days. Food at
this particular time was very scarce, the natives
having but little to spare and the white men
none at all.

When, however, the immediate future looked
dark indeed, the schooner Gipsy, which had
been chartered to carry supplies to the Grey,
hove into sight, and later entered the river
(March 5th, 1860), all was well. Nineteen
days after Mackay’s arrival at the pa, Von Haast
and his party also reached that haven of refuge,
in a starving condition, and that night for the
first time in the history of Old Westland a
party of white men—Mackay, Mackley, Von
Haast and James Burnett—foregathered and
ate to repletion of good life-giving food, so
different from the fern root and occasional eel
that the explorers had been forced for some
time to subsist upon.

Mackay at once opened negotiations with
Tarapuhi as chief of the coastal natives, with
the result that it was agreed to convene a
meeting of all the tribes to take place at the
Poherua Lagoon, near Okarito, which was
situated some one hundred and forty miles
south of the Mawhera Pa. Accordingly,
Mackay, Mackley and James Burnett set out
on their tramp to the place appointed, and with
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them went Tainui and the whole of the local
tribe —men, women and children. They
travelled down the coast by easy stages, picking
up the natives resident at the Taramakau,
Arahura and Hokitika Pas en route. Mackay,
known to the Maoris as “Karamea,” travelled
in flax sandals, having worn his boots off his
feet. He, like Thomas Brunner, had over-
come the difficulty of “walking barefoot.”
On their arrival at the pa the usual feast of
welcome was tendered to the visitors. This
lasted several days, after which the real
business of the meeting was commenced.
Mackay addressed the gathering at length,
conveying to those present the Governor’s
greetings and good wishes, and finally offering
three hundred golden sovereigns (the canny
Scotsman) for their lands, subject to certain
reserves being set aside. This offer was
accepted, and James Mackay and Mackley,
accompanied by some of the leading chiefs, at
once set out for Bruce Bay, another forty miles
south, where they met some Maori women who
had not previously seen a white man. These
ladies took a great fancy to Mackay’s English-
made clothes, and suggested that he leave them
behind him. A quick getaway on his part
ended a very embarrassing situation. The
necessary reserves having been defined to the
satisfaction of the Maoris, they returned to

F
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Mawhera, which was duly accomplished with-
out further incident. On arrival at the pa there
was more feasting prior to the signing of the
deed of sale. When this was concluded the four-
teen Maori chiefs present affixed their signatures
by making a cross, Messrs. Mackley, Burnett
and seven Maoris from Collingwood acting as
witnesses and James Mackay signing on behalf
of Queen Victoria. These legal formalities
having been completed, the three hundred
sovereigns were paid over and the business
concluded.

The following is a copy of the original
document which is of great historical import-
ance:

This Beed, written on this 21st day of May,
in the year of our Lord, 1860, is a full and final
sale conveyance and surrender by us the Chiefs
and people of the Tribe Ngaitahu, whose
names are hereunto subscribed: And witnesseth
that on behalf of ourselves, our relatives and
descendants we have, by signing this Deed
under the shining sun of this day, parted with
and for ever transferred unto Victoria Queen
of England, Her Heirs, the Kings and Queens
that may succeed Her and’ their Assigns for
ever in consideration of the sum of three
hundred pounds (£300) to us paid by James
Mackay, junr., on behalf of the Queen Victoria
(and we hereby acknowledge the receipt of the
said moneys) all that piece of our land situate
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in the Provinces of Nelson, Canterbury and
Otago, and named Poutini, Arahaura, the
boundaries whereof are set forth at the foot of
this Deed and a plan of which Land is annexed
thereto, with its trees, minerals, waters, rivers,
lakes, streams and interests whatsoever
thereon. To hold to Queen Victoria Her Heirs
and Assigns as a lasting possession absolutely
for ever and ever. And in testimony of our
consent to all the conditions of this Deed we
have hereunto subscribed our names and
marks. And in testimony of the consent of the
Queen of England on her part: to all the con-
ditions of this Deed the name of James
Mackay, junr., Commissioner, is hereunto
subscribed. :

These are the boundaries of the land com-
mencing at the seaside at Piopiotai (Milford
Haven), thence proceeding inland to the
snowy mountains of Taumora, thence to the
mountains, Tioripatea, Haorange (Mount
Cook), Terao-o-Tama, thence to the saddle of
the source of the river Teremakau,* thence to
Mount Wakarewa, thence following the range
of mountains to the lake Roterua, thence to
the source of the rivers Karamea and Waka-
poai, thence by a straight liné drawn in a
southerly direction. The sea coast is the
boundary of Piopiotai (Milford Haven) where
the boundaries meet. There are certain lands

* Teremakau as spelt in the deed.
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within this block reserved for sale; these are
described in schedule A and B attached to this
Deed.

(Signed) JAMES MACKAY,

Assistant Native Secretary.

Then follow these signatures, the Maori
names in each case being signed with a mark,
thus X Kinihi, Kerei, Kaurri Mokohuru-
- huru, Pako, Wiremu Parata, Pauha-te-Rangi,
Taraphi-te-Kaukihi, Mere-te-Aowangi, Werita
Tainui, Hakiaha, Taona, Purua, Makarini
Tohi, Arapata Horau, Rewai Kaihi. Witnesses
to the payment and signatures, James Mackay,
Junior, Assistant Native Secretary, acting for
Land Purchase Commissioner; Samuel M.
Mackley, Settler, Nelson; James Burnett, Sur-
veyor, Nelson; Tamati Pirimona, Colling-
wood; Hori-te-Kirama, Collingwood. Received
this 21st day of May, in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and sixty, the sum
of £300 sterling, being the £300 consideration
money expressed in the above written Deed to
be paid by James Mackay, Junior, on behalf of
Her Majesty the Queen, to us.

Witnesses, James Mackay, Junior, Assistant
Native Secretary for Land Purchase Com-
missioner, Samuel M. Mackley, Settler,
Nelson; James Burnett, Surveyor, Nelson;
Tamati Poumona, Native Chief, Collingwood;
Hori-te-Kirama, Native Chief, Parapara, Col-
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lingwood; Tarapuhi, Werita Tainui, Hokiaha
Toana, Makarini Tohi, Arapata Horau, Kiwai,
Kaihi, Kinihi-te-kau, Kerei, Kawiri Moko-
huruhuru, Pauha-te-Rangi.

After completing the sale, Mackay, Mackley
and the seven Maoris from Collingwood set
out for Nelson by way of the coastal route,
and in attempting to cross the Grey River,
which was in heavy flood, the explorers’ canoe
capsized. Mackay at this time had the deed of
purchase, the field books of the reserve surveys,
and the remaining hundred sovereigns in a
leather dispatch box in his swag, which was
very heavy. He with great difficulty retained
his hold of it until he reached the overturned
canoe which later was washed ashore just south
of where the town of Cobden now stands.
He afterwards received a “please explain”
from a Government armchair official who
complained of the “slovenly and dirty appear-
ance of the deed and papers attached thereto,”
and suggested that “he should be more careful
in the future.”

When Messrs. Mackay and Mackley reached
the Buller, they found a party of twenty
Europeans who had arrived in a vessel from
Lyttelton in search of gold, the report that the
precious metal had there been found by John
Rochfort having got abroad. These early gold
seckers were dissatisfied with their prospects,
and wished to return to civilization, little
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dreaming at that period of the vast quantity of
gold which was afterwards to be found at the
Buller and on the West Coast generally.
Mackay, seeing the plight these miners were
in, offered to pilot them to Nelson, and took
them overland from the mouth of the Heaphy,
crossing -the saddle between that river and the
Aorere, and so to their destination.

Mackay’s last exploring expedition to the
Coast was in 1862 in company with Messrs.
John and Arthur Knyvett, when they blazed
a saddle line from the Upper Aorere, Colling-
wood, to the mouth of the Heaphy River. On
this occasion Mackay left his companions at
the River Karamea and travelled on foot, from
there to Westport in one day.

James Mackay paid some visits to Westport
at a later date as Magistrate and Warden, but
finally left the West Coast in July, 1863, on
the outbreak of war in the Waikato. His
services there were principally confined to
persuading rebels to surrender and taking
possession of their arms and ammunition. In
May, 1864, he was appointed Civil Com-
missioner for the Hauraki District, where he
remained until 1867, when after protracted
negotiations with the natives he opened thc
Thames goldfields to the general public. In
1880 he returned to Westland where he held
the office of Resident Magistrate and Warden
at Greymouth until 1881.
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Samuel Meggitt Mackley, shortly after
reaching Nelson, returned again to the West
Coast and settled at Waipuna, Grey Valley.
G. W. H. Lee, who had made the alpine
crossing under the guidance of the Chief
Tainui, also took up land in the same locality,
both holdings being stocked with sheep in
1863. Messrs. Mackley and Lee thus became the
pioneer agriculturists of the West Coast, and
Mrs. Mackley the first white woman resident.

Did Mackay know of the fabulous richness
of Old Westland’s gold deposits prior to its
purchase from the natives?

This question was ever a bone of contention
with old time diggers, who displayed an
intense and lasting interest in the subject, and
the writer, when a youth, can well remember
hearing many discussions pertaining thereto.
At this time the author’s father, who was an
early surveyor employed by the Canterbury
Provincial Government (his name being per-
petuated in the Lord Range, South Westland,
and Lord Street, Greymouth), was practising
his profession privately,and had a party of men
who had all been through the hectic days of
the various rushes. They were of all stations
in life, and had a wonderful knowledge of
the golden days of the mid-sixties, which they
described at great length during bad weather
and in the long evenings round the camp fire.
There it was ever the author’s delight to
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sojourn, and thrill when listening to their tales
of “Dick” Seddon, “Big” Revell, Reuben Waite,
“Honest John” Hudson, the elusive Albert
Hunt, stormy petrel of the diggings, Gentle-
man George, Ah Sue, the wily Chinese, and
many other characters who played prominent
parts in Old Westland’s Golden Drama. Yet
after all these stories had been told, the
conversation would always swing back to
“Jimmie” Mackay, and the famous sale.

Of course this took place about five years
before the arrival of this party of men, and
Mackay had left the district. Still, the natives
who had sold were still there and their version
was eagerly sought.

It was generally considered impossible for
Mackay not to have known of the gold. The
Oakes brothers and Messrs. Harper and Locke
had reported it to the Canterbury Provincial
Government three years before the sale, the
Nelson Examiner had actually published the
fact that the Maori brothers Tarapuhi and
Tainui had found it “in abundance” in 1858,
and most important of all, Mackay’s friend,
John Rochfort, had reported its discovery
at the Old Diggings a year later. Again,
Mackay was a Goldfields Warden, and as
such was known to have a good knowledge of
the metal royal. Further, Von Haast and his
assistant, James Burnett, were on the spot, and
surely, if only for curiosity, must have panned
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a dish or two of wash and by so doing proved
that gold was existent everywhere. This being
s0, it was held that “Mackay did not play the
game with the natives,” going as far as to give
£100 less than he was authorised to, even
though he had the money with him.

On the other hand it was contended the
explorer had no knowledge of the gold.
Brunner had reported that Westland “was
worthless,” and Mackay had accepted this
statement. Apart from this it was pointed out
that Governor Gore Browne had laid it down
that reserves amounting to ten thousand acres
were to be set aside, holding that the territory
(comprising seven and a half million acres)
was of no use to the few natives who then
occupied it, and that it would be better to make
good reserves which would, by the profitable
occupation of the remainder of the land by
Europeans, be of more ultimate value than
the whole waste untenanted district then was.
It was also considered that if the natives had
been paid a large sum in cash they would soon
have been penniless. No, it was better to set
aside adequate reserves and so conserve the
Maori interest, and time has proved this to be
correct, for when the rentals were finally fixed
it was found that the natives were to receive
£5,300 annually, and as eighty years will have
clapsed from the date of the sale until
Centenary Year, 1940, the sum of £424,000 will



90 Old Westland

have been paid, and will continue to be paid
through the years to be, for though Maoris
may come and Maoris may go, the rent goes
on for ever.

It is of interest to state that the greatest
portion of this huge amount has been paid by
the business community of Greymouth, and
noteworthy too, that this rapidly extending
town is now, for the most part, being built
on land outside the Native Reserve, the Maori
rents being considered excessive.
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Reuben Waste—The Existence of Gold Reported
—The First Prospectors— £1,000 Reward for
the Discovery of a Payable Goldfield—Henry
Whitcombe—Death of Whitcombe.

PART from its import-
ance as marking Mac-
kay’s purchase from the
natives, 1860 is also not-
able for the fact that this
year Reuben Waite,
pioneer storekeeper of the
West Coast, established
limself at Westport. How
and why he came to do
so is admirably described )
by Mr. Justice O'Regan, Ilenry Whitcombe
an outstandmg authority on West Coast
history, in an article contributed to “Te Wai
Pounamu,” an earlier publication of the
writer’s, wherein he states, inter alia:

“The carliest discovery of alluvial gold in
New Zealand was made at Collingwood in the
year 1856, and we first hear of Mr. Reuben
Waite at Collingwood, where he kept a store.
He was an Englishman by birth, and I have
heard him say that he served his time to
the trade of stonemason. He arrived first in
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Australia, and came to New Zealand from
Victoria, but I am unable to state when he
arrived in this country.

“Waite wrote a small pamphlet in 1869
entitled ‘A Narrative of the Discovery of the
West Coast Goldfields,” edited by W. H. L.
Leach, printed at the office of the Nelson
Examiner, and published by J. Hounsell, book-
seller and stationer, of Nelson, and I possess a
copy thereof presented to me by the late Mr.
Turnbull, founder of the Turnbull Library. He
states that in or about the month of May, 1860,
he was on the Collingwood goldfields when a
party of Maoris came overland from the Buller
River by travelling up the coast, and thence by
the Aorere to Collingwood, bringing with
them a parcel of gold which they said they had
obtained some twenty miles up the Buller. The
author adds that the gold was a splendid
sample, and that upon seeing it, he conceived
the idea of organising a prospecting expedition
to the West Coast. Here let me state that I
have reason to believe it was in the month of
April, 1860, that the party of Maoris brought
the gold to Collingwood, and Waite himself
does not appear to be exact about the date
when he fixes it at in or about the month of
May. The Maoris had gone to the West Coast
in search of gold, because they had acquired
at Collingwood a knowledge of the somewhat
primitive methods of gold digging in vogue in
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those days, and, as many of them were familiar
with the West Coast, they were struck by the
resemblance of the gold-bearing gravel or
‘wash,’ as it was called, to that which they had
seen in their travels farther south. It is
interesting to remark in passing that the
Englishman, William Hammond Hargreaves,
was likewise so much impressed by the
similarity of the gold-bearing gravels in the
‘placer’ diggings in California to that which
he had seen in New South Wales, that he made
the journey back to Australia and discovered
payable gold on the Turon in February, 1851.

“According to Waite’s account, he experi-
enced very little encouragement from the
people of Nelson to whom he mentioned his
project. Indeed, he states that they laughed at
the undertaking, and described him and his
companion, Mr. Saunders Rogers, as ‘madmen
from Victoria’ However, he called a meeting
of gold-diggers and laid his plan before them,
and ultimately a party was formed who
chartered the ketch Jane, and engaged Captain
Jacobsen to take the party to the Buller.
Apparently not more than seventeen persons
embarked from Collingwood. The little vessel
grounded at Farewell Spit, but was ultimately
got off successfully, and the party entered the
Buller safely two days later. Waite does not
give us the exact date, but it was certainly in
the month of June, 1860. Several of the party,
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including Waite himself, attempted to ascend
the Buller in the ship’s boat with the object of
reaching the spot described by the Maoris, but
after four days ‘battling with the current’ the
journey was abandoned. On Waite’s return to
the river mouth with his companions he learnt
that certain Maoris had discovered payable
gold in the Waimangaroa, and he was shown
a small nugget. Waite immediately embarked
for Nelson for the purpose of bringing fresh
supplies, and he appears to have experienced
rough weather, because sixteen days elapsed
before the little craft reached her destination.
He placed a number of nuggets in a jeweller’s
window at Nelson, and some interest appears
to have been excited amongst the people there.
In due course Waite returned to the Buller
and opened a store there.

“The existence of gold in theBuller had been
discovered by Mr. John Rochfort, surveyor, who
obtained several small pieces of the precious
metal at the Old Diggings in November, 1859.
This spot is opposite the site of the wayside
accommodation house known at Berlin’s. The
Maoris who brought the sample to Colling-
wood, however, were the first to obtain gold
in payable quantities on the West Coast, and
from the time of their finding it in 1860
gold was obtained continuously. It is thus
abundantly evident that payable gold was got
on the West Coast several years before the
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discovery of the Greenstone Diggings, also
made by the Maoris in 1864.

“From the present site of Westport, diggers
penetrated in various directions, and as early
as 1862 payable gold was discovered at Lyell
by Maoris. Waite’s store at Westport appears
to have been the chief source of supplies for
those venturesome and forgotten pioneers, but
owing to the discovery of gold in Otago,
attention was diverted from the West Coast
until January, 1862, when the steamer
Tasmanian Maid (Captain Whitwell) came to
the Buller from Dunedin with a great number
of diggers on board.”

Reverting from this second interlude, it is
necessary to observe that after Mackay’s
departure the Canterbury Provincial Govern-
ment proceeded but slowly with the exploration
of Westland, and the year 1861 was uneventful.
In view of what transpired in 1862, however,
it is necessary to outline briefly the reasons
which forced the Provincial Government into
offering a reward of £1,000 for the discovery
of a payable goldfield.

To do so adequately let it first be noted that
the discovery of gold by Hargreaves in New
South Wales in 1851 gave a great impetus to
the quest for the metal royal, which extended
not only to other parts of Australia but also
to this Dominion, prospectors crossing the
Tasman and trying their luck in many parts.
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The first definite result of these activities was
that Charles Ring, in 1852, located auriferous
quartz at Kapanga Creek, Coromandel, and
applied for the reward of £500 which had
been offered by a group of Auckland men
for the discovery of payable gold. About
a hundred men rushed the field, Colonel
Wynyard, who was then Lieutenant-Governor,
having made arrangements with the Maoris
to permit the search for gold on their
lands. Operations, however, did not meet
with immediate success, and many miners
left to follow rushes which occurred at
Collingwood, in 1857, where William Light-
band had discovered rich alluvial deposits, the
first in New Zealand, and at Tuapeka
(Lawrence), Otago, where in 1861 Gabriel
Read made known to Major Richardson, then
Superintendent of that Province, that, “for ten
hours’ work with a butcher’s knife and a pan,
he was enabled to collect 7 ozs. of gold.” As
soon as the news of this fabulous find became
generally known a mighty rush set in,
thousands upon thousands of gold miners
swarming all over Otago, and winning from
1861 to 1863 gold to the value of almost
- £5,000,000.

This great discovery, together with the fact
that as early as 1857 gold to the value of
£40,000 had been won in Auckland and
Nelson, forced the Provincial Government to
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take action, and, as has been stated, to offer
the reward of £1,000 for the discovery of a
payable field in Canterbury.

In the hope of obtaining this reward a party
of prospectors, Messrs. Smart, French, Cook,
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